

Fisheries and Oceans P Canada C

Pêches et Océans Canada

Ecosystems and Oceans Science Sciences des écosystèmes et des océans

#### Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat (CSAS)

**Research Document 2019/058** 

Central and Arctic Region

#### Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment: A Guide to Assessing Population Status, and Quantifying Cumulative Effects using the Joe Modelling Technique

L. MacPherson, M. Sullivan, J. Reilly, and A. Paul

Alberta Environment and Parks Fish and Wildlife Division 6909-116 St. Edmonton, AB, T6H 4P2

Canadä

#### Foreword

This series documents the scientific basis for the evaluation of aquatic resources and ecosystems in Canada. As such, it addresses the issues of the day in the time frames required and the documents it contains are not intended as definitive statements on the subjects addressed but rather as progress reports on ongoing investigations.

#### Published by:

Fisheries and Oceans Canada Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat 200 Kent Street Ottawa ON K1A 0E6

http://www.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/csas-sccs/ csas-sccs@dfo-mpo.gc.ca



© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2020 ISSN 1919-5044

#### Correct citation for this publication:

MacPherson, L., Sullivan, M., Reilly, J., and Paul, A. 2020. Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment: A Guide to Assessing Population Status, and Quantifying Cumulative Effects using the Joe Modelling Technique. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2019/058. vii + 45 p.

#### Aussi disponible en français :

MacPherson, L., Sullivan, M, Reilly, J., et Paul, A. 2020. Évaluation de la durabilité des pêches de l'Alberta : Guide pour évaluer la situation d'une population de poissons et quantifier les effets cumulatifs connexes au moyen de la modélisation de Joe. Secr. can. de consult. sci. du MPO. Doc. de rech. 2019/058. vii + 54 p.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFINITIONS	V
ABSTRACT	VI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
INTRODUCTION	1
FISHERIES SUSTAINABILTY ASSESSMENT (FSA) RULE SET	3
Assessing Population Status	3
FSA Focal Species	3
FSA Data Requirements	3
Population Assessment Scale	4
	5
Density Metrics	6
Current Adult and Immature	6
Historic Adult	8
ASSESSING THREATS: INTEGRATING CUMULATIVE EFFECTS USING JOE MODELLING	9
The Conceptual Model	9
Modelling Software	12
How to Build a Cumulative Effects Joe Model	12
Building the Stressor-Response Curves	12
Using Heuristics and Fearing Cognitive Bias in Building Stressor-Response Curves	13
Causation vs. Correlation	14
Incorporating Traditional Knowledge	15
Why Joe Modelling is not Population Dynamic Modelling	16
Climate Change Modelling	17
Increases in Mean Warmest Month Temperature	17
Changes in Precipitation and Flow	18
Modelling Uncertainty and Making Robust Conclusions	19
Sensitivity Analysis	20
Robustness Analysis	20
Scoring Data Reliability	22
Cumulative Effects Model Template	23
Habitat Impacts	23
Water Quantity and Flows	23
Water Quantity: Surface Water Withdrawals	24
Flow Regime: Modification of Timing and Frequency of Peak-Flow Events	24

Water Quality	25
Phosphorus	25
Fragmentation	27
Habitat Loss	27
Invasive Species Impacts	28
Disease	28
Exotic and Non-Native Species	29
Competition/Replacement: Brook Trout	29
Hybridization: Brook Trout	30
Harvest Impacts	31
Mortality	31
Incidental Angling Mortality and Illegal Harvest	31
Impacts from Natural Limitations	32
Summarizing Model Results	32
Model Validation and Adaptive Management: an Example	33
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	35
REFERENCES CITED	37

## DEFINITIONS

**Current Adult Density (CAD):** A measure of population status that is the density of mature individuals in a fish population using the most recent information available across a defined spatial area.

**Current Immature Density (CID):** A measure of population status that is the density of immature individuals in a fish population using the most recent information available across a defined spatial area.

**Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) Score:** A reporting metric based on the population's proportion of maximum system capacity categorized from zero to five using criteria adapted from international conservation agencies (e.g., Williams et al. 2007; Faber-Langendoen et al. 2009). The transformation from proportion of system capacity to FSA score is not linear (see Table 1).

**Historic Adult Density (HAD):** A measure of historic population status that is density of mature individuals in a fish population across a defined spatial area. This represents the population in an undisturbed or lightly disturbed state.

**Joe Model:** A stable state cumulative effects model that combines multiple stressor-response curves to predict a common response metric that would be expected over the long term. Response metrics for each curve are multiplied together; the result is an additive cumulative effects model on the proportional (logarithmic) scale (Smit and Spaling 1995).

**Recovery**: A return to a state in which the population and distribution characteristics and the risk of extinction are all within the normal range of variability for the wildlife species (DFO 2014a).

**Response metric**: A dimensionless measure of population status used for cumulative effects modelling. The response metric  $K_{Joe}$  is defined  $K_{Joe} = \frac{K}{K_{max}}$ , K is system capacity and  $K_{max}$  is the reference condition.

**Stressor-Response Curve:** Describes the expected value (or range of values) over the long term for system capacity given a dose of the stressor. The definition has been adapted from DFO (2014b), but here includes both human-induced and natural stressors.

**System Capacity:** The expected long-term measure of population status under a given set of stressors. System capacity can either be: measured using field data; or, modelled using stressor-response curves. System capacity can be translated into a response metric (dimensionless) by division with the expected maximum system capacity when all stressors are at their optimal values. System capacity is a continuous variable that must not be confused with the FSA score that is categorical.

## ABSTRACT

Managing fish and fisheries in Alberta is difficult and getting harder, with fewer fish, more stakeholders, and mounting stressors. These include both direct users of fish (Indigenous peoples, and recreational anglers) and indirect users of fish, such as forestry, municipalities, and agriculture, and their effects on fish populations through habitat changes. Effective communication of necessary trade-offs is fundamental in achieving the goal of long-term sustainability of Alberta's fish and fisheries.

For effective understanding and management of these complex effects on the status of fish populations, Alberta is adopting the principles of the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) Code of Conduct of Responsible Fisheries. These include the principles of Management Strategy Evaluation (MSE), as adapted to Alberta's complex issues of cumulative effects threats on multiple fish stocks. These adaptations have resulted in a transparent, easily communicated system of assessing status and threats. This system is called the Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) and is a two-part process: 1) Assess Status: current status scaled to a provincial reference condition, and contrast this to desired status, and 2) Assess Threats using simple cumulative effects models (called Joe Modelling): model the hypothesized threats to achieving desired status. From this process, effective mitigation actions can be designed, implemented, and tested.

A novel feature of the Joe Modelling process is its ease of design and communication. Built in workshop settings biologists can, in real time, include almost any stressor or management action the participants suggest. Sources of information can readily include academic knowledge, anecdotal descriptions from experienced stakeholders, and traditional knowledge. The model outputs and simulated trade-offs that alter system capacity are considered as hypotheses, not forecasts. As such, the purpose of the Joe Models can best be viewed as a tool for prioritizing impact hypotheses based on management actions and expected effects (i.e., changes in system capacity).

By combining a standardized population status assessment, and the Joe Modelling threats assessment, Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment is a logical, transparent process of determining fishery status and prioritizing mitigation actions. Learning and improvement on fisheries management and fish conservation are the ultimate objectives of this system.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP) biologists David Park, Dr. Michael Sullivan and Matthew Coombs developed the first iteration of this process during the mid-2000s, then called the "Fish Sustainability Index". Laura MacPherson (AEP) and Jessica Reilly (AEP) then completed further refinements. Extensive developments over the past decade led to the amendments presented in this report. Further, we are indebted for the robust peer review provided by the Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat (CSAS) invited experts.

## INTRODUCTION

Alberta has one of Canada's fastest growing human populations and economies, and consequently, faces rapidly changing issues of fisheries conservation (Schneider 2002, Post et al. 2002, Sullivan 2003, Schindler 2009). Achieving Alberta's legislated fisheries principles of conservation, Indigenous people's rights, sport fishing, and economic benefits requires a highly effective fisheries management process (AESRD 2014, Arlinghaus et al. 2016). The complexity of this task resulted in Alberta adopting aspects of the United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization (UN FAO) Code of Conduct of Responsible Fisheries (FAO 1995, FAO 2012, AESRD 2014). Integral to these principles is the formalized system of modelling and testing alternative management strategies known as the Management Strategy Evaluation (Holland 2010, Punt et al. 2014). These principles and techniques have been developed primarily for large commercial fisheries (Punt et al. 2008, Deroba and Bence 2012). Alberta fisheries biologists have developed a system to adapt these principles to the complex problem of managing multiple freshwater systems and species threatened by a variety of cumulative effects (including habitat loss, invasive species and overfishing). This adapted system is designed to rigorously meet the criteria of science-based natural resource management (Artelle et al. 2018). Alberta Environment and Parks (AEP) is moving toward managing all fish populations using this consistently applied, step-wise process that has measureable quantitative objectives, is based on empirical evidence with peer-review, and has public transparency.

This provincial-scale fisheries management process is conducted as hierarchal steps with three major components; Fisheries Management Objectives, Fisheries Sustainability Assessment, and Species Management Framework. The first component is a pair of policy-level decisions to quantify the Fisheries Management Objectives; what is the quantified scale of low to high risk for sustainability of this species in Alberta, and using that scale, what are the desired Fisheries Management Objectives for individual populations? The next component, termed the Fisheries Sustainability Assessment, is the assessment of the historic and current status using the same quantified scale, along with a quantification of stressors to each individual population. The remaining component is the Species Management Framework (or Species Recovery Plan if designated as a species at risk), which determines the appropriate actions and timelines to achieve the Fisheries Management Objectives for each population. Of these three steps, the Fisheries Sustainability Assessment is the key component to allow policy objectives to be realistically achieved through management actions.

The Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) is a two-part process: 1) *Assess Status*: current status scaled to a provincial reference condition, and contrast this to desired status, and 2) *Assess Threats using simple cumulative effects models (called Joe Modelling)*: model the hypothesized threats to achieving desired status. From this process, effective mitigation actions can be designed, implemented, and tested.

*Assess Status:* For assessment, fish populations are scored into density categories of 0 (extirpated) to 5 (very high density). Populations are defined as species-in-lakes, and species-in-watersheds, such as "Walleye in Lac Ste. Anne", or "Bull Trout in the Berland River watershed". Standardized index-netting in lakes and electrofishing in rivers are primarily used to determine density, as scored in relation to provincial-level thresholds. This simple score comparison, current versus undisturbed, provides a critical perspective to minimize shifting baselines, and standardizes the interpretation of fish status across species and watersheds. The current status is then compared to a socially and politically-determined desired status (Fisheries Management Objective). The difference in current versus desired score is therefore quantifiable, and clearly defines the management targets.

Assess Threats using Joe Modelling: Achieving the management target requires the assessment and effective mitigation of threats, such as habitat loss, invasive species, climate change, and overharvest. The threats for each individual population are examined using a novel modelling process termed "Joe Modelling" that uses a series of stressor-response models (e.g., impact of sediment on system capacity for fish), parameterized with watershed-specific data (e.g., what is sediment level in Berland River watershed?), and multiplies the scaled output of these individual stressor-response curves (additive effects on the proportional scale). The resultant cumulative threats assessment defines the capacity of the system to achieve a certain stable state; e.g., if threats are all high, the best state the population might achieve is low density as the model is additive. Therefore, by defining the cumulative effects of threats as a "system capacity", Joe Modelling provides a useful bridge between listing all potential threats (as typically conducted in species at risk planning), and detailed quantitative fisheries population dynamics models that include threats of predicted high importance.

This document describes the second iteration of Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA v2.0), first developed in 2010 as the Fisheries Sustainability Index, FSI (MacPherson et al. 2014). The key change is the quantification of impacts to a population using Joe Modelling. Multiple impacts are modelled as cumulative, using the model in a static format (i.e., one point in time) to prioritize hypotheses that quantify plausible key limiting impacts to the current status. This model can then be used in the next phase of management (Species Management Framework, or Species Recovery Plan) to develop management recovery scenarios that combine the effects of mitigating individual impacts in order to achieve the desired Fisheries Management Objectives. These management or recovery scenarios are hypotheses, which must then be tested using active adaptive management actions (Figure 1).

The following report is intended to act as an 'operators manual' and provide guidance to assist fisheries biologists in conducting consistent stock and cumulative effects impact assessments across the province and across fish species. These guidelines are expected to change over time, as problems are discovered and solutions found.



Figure 1. Diagram of Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) process that assesses population status and incorporates Joe Modelling under an adaptive management framework.

# FISHERIES SUSTAINABILTY ASSESSMENT (FSA) RULE SET

To maintain consistency, this rule set provides instructions on how to 1) assess population status and 2) create a cumulative effects impact model (i.e., Joe Model) using the FSA methodology.

Fisheries Sustainability Assessments are applied to wild and naturalized (self-sustaining) stocked populations. Fish stocked into put-and-take fisheries do not require an FSA. For example, self-sustaining Walleye (*Sander vitreus*) stocked in prairie reservoirs would get an FSA even though they live in artificial habitat. On the other hand, Arctic Grayling (*Thymallus arcticus*) stocked in ponds in southern Alberta are generally not self-sustaining and do not require assessment.

# Assessing Population Status

## **FSA Focal Species**

FSA assessments of fish species in the province will be conducted in accordance with provincial objectives and priorities. At present, the following are priority FSA species:

- 1. Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*)
- 2. Lentic and lotic Walleye
- 3. Westslope Cutthroat Trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii lewisi)
- 4. Lake Sturgeon (*Acipenser fulvescens*)
- 5. Athabasca Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*)
- 6. Arctic Grayling
- 7. Goldeye (*Hiodon alosoides*) and Mooneye (*Hiodon tergisus*)
- 8. Lake Trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*)
- 9. Lentic and lotic Northern Pike (*Esox lucius*)
- 10. Yellow Perch (*Perca flavescens*)
- 11. Mountain Whitefish (Prosopium williamsoni)
- 12. Sauger (Sander canadensis)
- 13. Burbot (*Lota lota*)

Many of the priority species have undergone an FSI assessment (version 1), but will need to be updated under the current FSA (version 2) format. For an up-to-date listing and results of all completed FSA species, refer to the <u>Alberta Environment and Parks FSA webpage</u>.

# FSA Data Requirements

Each FSA represents a present-day snapshot in time of the current status of a fish population. Fisheries biologists should reassess their population's FSA score regularly as new data are collected on population status, as the severity of population impacts change and as new impacts appear, or management actions change. For any particular FSA, the most up-to-date data should be used to compare the focal fish population against the reference population described in the Fisheries Management Objectives. For high-profile fisheries, these data are collected using active monitoring protocols. These are generally index netting in lakes (index netting standard, Morgan 2002; ASRD 2010) and electrofishing in streams (river monitoring protocols, AEP 2018). For lower-profile lentic fisheries (e.g., remote, undisturbed, or less-used

by humans), monitoring is conducted following the passive monitoring protocols (Brown 2017). Passive monitoring for lakes relies on assessing information relating to five factors: similarity to nearby actively monitored lakes, surface area, road access, citizen science, and government staff reports. Since reliability of the data is evaluated (detailed in a later section of the rule set), these assessments also aid in prioritization of future data collection. In instances where the data used may be imprecise or inaccurate, the quantity of data available is limited, or outdated data is used, this will be highlighted by low confidence scores in the field-based measure of current status.

As with other collected fisheries data, once finalized, FSA scores and supporting information are entered into the provincial Fisheries and Wildlife Management Information System (FWMIS) database to ensure that data is available for staff and stakeholders, is archived and data integrity is preserved.

## Population Assessment Scale

In 2013, the Fisheries Management Branch in collaboration with Alberta Environment and Parks Data Management and Water Management, created a provincially comprehensive and aggregated collection of standard hydrologic units based on United States Geological Survey (USGS) standards and procedures. The Hierarchical Unit Code (HUC) watersheds establish a standardized baseline that covers all areas, and where successively smaller hydrologic units are nested within larger hydrologic units, creating a hierarchal watershed boundary dataset. Currently, four levels of nested watersheds have been delineated, 2, 4, 6 and 8-digit HUCs. 10-digit HUCs are delineated for Alberta's East Slopes. The 2-digit HUCs are the largest watersheds and 10-digit HUCs are the smallest, finer scale watersheds.

The HUC watershed dataset was delineated based on sound hydrologic principles to ensure that they are not created in favour of a specific department or program objective. As such, they can (and are) being used by a diverse group of government and non-government agencies, and will have a lasting value in water and watershed modelling and management programs, as well as resource inventory assessments. Given that the HUCs were delineated based on hydrologic principles, the scale may never perfectly fit our definition of a species' population, but the closest watershed scale will be chosen and used.

Given their widespread use, HUC watersheds have been chosen as the spatial assessment unit for the FSA when assessing lotic populations. However, the specific scale of HUC watershed used in a FSA evaluation will be species-specific and reflect life history traits and available genetic information. For the purposes of the FSA when appropriate genetic information is available, we define a population as a group of individuals that exhibit self-assignment rates of ~90% using multilocus genotypes. This means that, at a minimum, 90% of individuals captured within a certain spatial extent (e.g., lake, river, or river system) assign or 'belong' to the same population. However, in the absence of genetic data, telemetry information, or scientific literature can be used to determine at what scale to define a 'population'.

For instance, in a genetic analysis of Alberta Arctic Grayling, Reilly et al. (2014) found that selfassignment rates were relatively high when individuals were grouped at a spatial equivalent to 6-digit HUCs (average self-assignment rate = 86%). Conversely, when investigating Bull Trout population structure using genetic variation at nine microsatellite markers, Warnock (2008) found evidence of at least three populations in the Castle River 8-digit HUC. In this instance, an even smaller HUC (10-digit) would be the appropriate scale of assessment. Highly migratory species (e.g., Lake Sturgeon) populations may be defined at a larger spatial scale (e.g., an entire basin), but fisheries biologists may choose to separate results at smaller spatial scales where actions can realistically be applied. All HUCs where the focal fish species exist, is suspected to exist, or has been extirpated must be identified and assessed. This can include areas of habitat that are seasonally or temporally unoccupied (IUCN 2008). In cases of extirpation or range contraction, the pre-disturbance distribution of species, irrespective of present day or historical human impacts, should be assessed.

To be consistent with the International Union for the Conservation of Nature's definition of extent of occurrence (IUCN 2008), "cases of vagrancy" should be excluded. For example, Lake Trout in Alberta are occasionally observed in rivers downstream from existing lake populations, but rivers would be excluded from their lentic assessment.

Lotic HUCs may include lakes, if the fish in these lakes are considered part of the larger lotic population. Alternatively, if lentic fish in the lake form a distinct fish population (or it is managed as such by lake-specific angling regulations), the level of assessment is the individual waterbody and the lentic population is defined separately within the lotic HUC as the boundaries of the lake and if applicable, any connected streams or lakes frequented by the lentic population.

# Population Integrity

To capture changes in status of Alberta's fish populations through time, aspects of population integrity are summarized using three separate metrics: current adult density, current immature density and historic adult density.

Evaluations are made by comparing measured fish densities of focal populations to fish densities of an observed or a modelled-theoretical reference population covering the same areal extent but occurring in the most ideal habitat in Alberta, unaffected by anthropogenic influences (i.e., no fishing mortality, no habitat loss, and no competition with exotic species). Differences between focal and reference populations are translated to a scale of one to five, and represent five different risk categories (Table 1) (AESRD 2012). This is the FSA score. A score of one corresponds to a focal population that is least sustainable and very different from the reference population, and a five or higher corresponds to a focal population that is most sustainable and very similar to the reference population. This scoring system follows those used by international conservation agencies (e.g., Williams et al. 2007; Faber-Langendoen et al. 2009). Note that for cases where comparisons between the focal and reference population are not possible (e.g., extirpated, or no fish were detected), an additional rating of zero has been added to the Alberta FSA. A zero represents a functionally extirpated population (e.g., no fish were detected in recent history, or extirpation is suspected). While a few individuals may still occur in a functionally extirpated population, it is not thought to constitute a viable population. A FSA score of Current Adult Density (CAD) of four and five represent a population at low risk and very low risk. respectively. In practice, densities higher than the threshold of five are measured, and these are scored simply as a five (very low risk). A score of one is a population at very high risk. A zero represents a functionally extirpated population where extirpation is known or suspected (Table 1). In addition to allowing the FSA score to align with the Alberta species at risk framework, risk assessment ratings also provide broad categories, which allow fisheries biologists to more easily assign estimated FSA scores in the absence of intensive data.

Active monitoring for fisheries assessments should be conducted using scientifically robust and consistent methods. In Alberta, standardized stream and river electrofishing protocols have been developed (ASRD 2008; AEP 2018) and follow American Fisheries Society standards and sampling protocols (Bonar et al. 2009). For rivers and streams, boat and backpack electrofishing are currently the most cost-effective monitoring methods and are currently the primary flowing water assessment protocols (AEP 2018). In lakes, fisheries biologists primarily

rely on standardized index netting procedures such as fall index netting (Morgan 2002; ASRD 2010) and North American Standard Index Netting (Bonar et al. 2009). Catchability of different techniques is quantified on an ongoing basis (Mogensen et al. 2014). Catch rates and population estimates should be as representative of the population-level system (i.e., entire HUC or lake) as possible, and avoid site-specific biases when sampling. Fisheries biologists must assess whether site-specific catch rates or population estimates are representative of the HUC or lake. For example, electrofishing for Bull Trout on a spawning tributary would likely be biased towards adult fish and higher densities than the HUC as a whole; or, electrofishing Arctic Grayling on the one tributary where they have been caught in the past may not be representative of the entire population in a HUC.

For passively monitored assessments, fish density is estimated using protocols relying on remote GIS-type data, and observational data (Brown 2017). These may be supplemented by other sources of information such as historical data (e.g., preliminary biological surveys, angler surveys, and commercial fishery data) and citizen science (e.g., Alberta typically uses data from anglers using iFish app on smart phones). Whether quantitative or qualitative, it is essential that fisheries biologists explain how they arrived at a score for density in the "Comments" section and if quantitative data are used, explain where these came from, how many sites were sampled, and how these sites were representative or adjust to represent the HUC or lake as a whole.

The only cases when zeros can be entered as FSA score values for adult (historical and present) density or immature density are when the focal species is a functionally extirpated population (none detected, extirpation suspected) in the HUC being considered.

As explained in subsequent sections, these measures of status are used as the common response metric (y-axis) in the cumulative effects Joe Model. While Alberta fisheries biologists have used the current status of mature fish to assess the sustainability of the population, users of the Joe Model could just as easily use the current status of immature fish or another measure of population status once scaled to a reference condition as the response variable.

Table 1. Proportion of a population remaining compared to a theoretical population undisturbed by anthropogenic influences, and the corresponding Alberta Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) scores.

FSA Score	Risk Assessment Rank	Percent (%) of Reference Population
0	Functionally Extirpated	0
1	Very High Risk	<20
2	High Risk	20–50
3	Moderate Risk	50–70
4	Low Risk	70–100
5	Very Low Risk	100

## **Density Metrics**

#### Current Adult and Immature

Current Adult Density (CAD) and Current Immature Density (CID) metrics indicate the density of these two demographic classes of fish compared to the species-specific reference condition. If a

population is undisturbed by human impacts, but is at the edge of its species range and at a very low density because of natural habitat limitations, it would still be scored as very low density. This is interpreted as being at very high risk and barely sustainable relative to the reference population occupying the same area of ideal habitat. This relative score is important, because the status score is not meant to imply that the assessed population has declined from a high density, nor that it could potentially recover to a high density. It does, however, imply that a lower density of fish is likely to be at a higher risk to sustainability than a population at higher density. When scoring populations fragmented by extensive human disturbance where there are no barriers to fish movement, consider the once-large, contiguous population and score each small fragment as the appropriate area-weighted fraction of the larger contiguous population. Species-specific CAD and CID density thresholds must be determined prior to the commencement of assigning a FSA score. General guidelines and the associated risk assessment scorings are found in Table 2.

A general note, while fisheries biologists have found that current adult and immature density are useful metrics used when monitoring and reporting on fish populations in the province, fisheries biologists also consider other key attributes such as population size structure, distribution, and genetic status.

Table 2. Alberta Fisheries Sustainability Assessment (FSA) scores and Risk Assessment ranks for adult and immature density.

FSA Score	Risk Assessment Rank	Current Adult Density	Current Immature Density
0	Functionally Extirpated	No adults observed	No immatures observed
1	Very High Risk	Lowest possible without extirpation, adults barely detectable	Lowest possible without extirpation, young barely detectable
2	High Risk	Low density, recruitment overfishing	Low density, recruitment overfishing
3	Moderate Risk	Moderate density, growth overfishing below maximum sustainable yield (MSY)	Moderate density growth overfishing below MSY
4	Low Risk	High density, population at or above MSY with minor growth overfishing	Highest possible density, population at or above MSY, potentially peak recruitment if exhibits Ricker stock-recruit curve, minor growth overfishing
5	Very Low Risk	Highest possible, adult population at reference carrying capacity	Very high density, peak or slight natural recruitment reduction possible (i.e., overcompensation)

#### Historic Adult

Historic Adult Density (HAD) uses the same criteria as the CAD metric described in the previous section, but for the undisturbed or lightly disturbed historical condition. The purpose of this metric is to capture information about the fish or fishery status at its earliest point of fishing or sampling, or the best available estimate of its undisturbed condition. Since fish species are often not naturally abundant across the entirety of their range, this metric can be used in the cumulative effects model to capture the natural limitations to the maximum productivity some fish populations may experience.

The time period associated with the historic condition will vary regionally. For example, watersheds and lakes in southern Alberta were described and documented in time periods before some northern portions of the province, and generally, these accessible fisheries were more heavily exploited than northern fisheries (although early cases of severe overexploitation in Lake Wabamun and Lac La Biche have occurred, Schindler et al. 2008). Records of fisheries from the fur trade period (late 1700s to late 1800s) can be very useful to assess if fish populations were either rare or abundant (e.g., Moberly 1929; Douglas 1977). Alberta municipal communities often have local histories published, which can be very useful in understanding abundance and distribution of fish in Alberta's early years of settlements. For example, to celebrate Alberta's 75<sup>th</sup> anniversary, Alberta Culture facilitated the writing of numerous local community histories, and these are increasingly becoming available in digital form (see digital collection, University of Calgary 2018). Other sources of historical fisheries status include interviews with early residents, such as collected in Chipeniuk (1975) or in historical surveys conducted by government biologists (Valastin and Sullivan 1997). The details of the sources of these historical assessments are captured in the description and comments. This metric will be used to help describe the original range and abundance of a species, and the changes in abundance relative to the current status.

For example, in the Tawatinaw River during the 1940s to 50s, a 1996 Local Environmental Knowledge (LEK) historical survey (Valastin and Sullivan 1997) summarized the following comments:

- Art Delancy: "always good for grayling, nice size, up to 1 lb"
- R.B. Miller: "abundant grayling below Meanook"
- M. Paetz: "grayling fishing by Colinton, but small fish by 1960s"
- John Kormendy: "by Perryvale, 1 lb. grayling easy to catch"
- Peter Marchuk: "fished in the 1950s and 1960s. Around the Rochester area the grayling were really nice "panners". Average size about 12–14 in."

Based on these stories, the Historical Adult Density in the Tawatinaw River was scored as FSA HAD status of 4 (low risk).

Conversely, in a historical LEK survey of Walleye in North Buck Lake (Valastin and Sullivan 1997), the following comments were recorded:

- Blake Smith fished from 1950 on and never caught any walleye there, but heard of people who did and said it was good.
- Hilaire Ladocoeur started fishing in 1940 and said he's never once caught a Walleye in this lake.
- John Gordey fished in 1960 and said that there used to be a lot of pike and Walleye here. "It would be nothing to get 5–6 Walleye here per day".

• M. Paetz a previous Superintendent of Fisheries Management said fish here consistently tasted "muddy". This included the Walleye and it is rare for a Walleye to taste "muddy".

Based on these conflicting stories and irregular Walleye catches in commercial fishing records, the Historical Adult Density would likely be scored as FSA HAD 3 (moderate risk; certainly present, not abundant for most anglers, perhaps patchy in distribution, low certainty of data quality).

In instances where a fishery was only recently established (e.g., Northern Pike naturally moving into a previously unoccupied reservoir), the year of establishment will be considered the historical condition of that fish species or fishery. Obviously, appropriate explanations should be added into the comments fields.

# ASSESSING THREATS: INTEGRATING CUMULATIVE EFFECTS USING JOE MODELLING

The challenge of conserving and managing fish given a myriad of stressors and complex cumulative effects is daunting (Dudgeon et al. 2006; Hansen et al. 2015; Hunt et al. 2016). Rather than recognizing the importance of integrating these multiple complex drivers into the theory and management of fisheries (Beard et al. 2011; Schindler and Hilborn 2015), too often management agencies have responded by creating long lists of potential impacts and actions with a lack of a coordinated strategy for implementation. For instance, in Alberta's Athabasca Rainbow Trout Recovery Plan (Athabasca Rainbow Trout Recovery Team 2014), over 30 impacts were listed. Understanding which impacts were limiting the trout populations and developing mitigation for these impacts was a goal proposed by the Recovery Team, but was stated without specifying direct actions to achieve this understanding.

Alberta's cumulative effects modelling process (Joe Modelling) is designed as a strategic tool to address these complexities. The model is aptly named in honour of Dr. Joe Nelson (Murray et al. 2012), because 'if you wanted to know anything about Alberta fish, ask Joe'. The process of building and using these cumulative effects models is designed to include stakeholders and directly incorporate local, traditional, and academic knowledge. Ideally designed in an interactive workshop setting, and refined through data analysis, and extensive exploration of the literature, a completed model results in clear statements of hypotheses of impact mitigation (e.g., given our assumptions, what is the predicted outcome from proposed actions?). Modelled results are treated as hypotheses needing testing, rather than forecasts. The results from these models are emphasized as simply the mathematical representation of the participants' best available understanding of threat quantity, effect and combination on the particular population. As such, the Joe Models serve two related strategic purposes: 1) they quantify existing impacts to identify the hypothetical key drivers of population status; and 2) they allow scenario modelling of mitigation actions to explore and optimize potential combinations of recovery actions.

## The Conceptual Model

Alberta cumulative effects Joe Models are a series of stressor-response curves representing impacts and limiting factors that are combined to simulate and quantify the cumulative effects on the system capacity of a fish population. Each model consists of a series of stressor-response curves where each impact is treated as independent, with the identified impact as the stressor and output from the curve is system capacity. Prior to using this output for the Joe Model, system capacity must be scaled to the reference condition for the response metric. The response metric is a fraction of the putative reference Current Adult Density. The response metrics for each stressor are then multiplied together to develop the cumulative adult response (Figure 2). System capacity (i.e., the response metric) is the resulting proportion (0–100%) of

the reference condition. System capacity must not be confused with the FSA score that is categorical. However, system capacity can easily be assigned an FSA category using criteria in Table 1.

The Joe Model output predicts the proportion of system capacity relative to the reference condition achieved over the long term if input threats (stressors) remain at specified levels. The model does not predict the temporal or spatial trajectory a system would follow in reaching the predicted system capacity or dynamic patterns that may occur in the long-term. Regardless, proportion of system capacity is a measurable quantity that can be explicitly tested.

For example, if temperature was not limiting densities of a Mountain Whitefish population, the input "stressor" parameter would be a temperature value within the optimal range for Mountain Whitefish. The output from the stressor-response curve for temperature for that population would be the maximum system capacity. If however, the stream temperatures in the watershed were too warm, it would be expected to cause the population to be at a depressed status, perhaps caused by factors such as increased mortality, or concentration in a few pockets of thermal-refuge habitat. The output system capacity "response" for this population would be depressed.

Each impact is initially developed and modelled independently through a stressor-response curve that predicts system capacity. The combination of impacts (i.e., system capacity from each stressor-response curve) are: a) represented as a fraction of the reference condition (i.e., response metric); and, b) response metrics for each stressor are multiplied to get an overall proportion of the reference condition (Figure 3). Although this sounds somewhat complicated, it simply describes an additive cumulative effects model on a proportional scale, which is the sensible biological scale if each impact influences survival independently. Weighting of individual impacts is not necessary because each impact is quantified as acting on the same output parameter: the common and dimensionless response metric. Weighting impacts has long been a difficulty of traditional cumulative effects models (Walters 1997). The novel approach of Joe Modelling simplifies that difficulty.

To take our example further, if the Mountain Whitefish population was occupying warm fringe waters (resulting in an expected system capacity of 2.1 units, out of  $5.0^{1}$ ), was also experiencing high direct angling mortality (resulting in an expected system capacity of 3.3 units), and the reference condition is set at a maximum system capacity of 5 units<sup>1</sup>, the cumulative effect of warm streams and high mortality on system capacity would be  $2.1/5 \times 3.3/5 \times 5 = 1.4$  units or 28% of the reference condition (i.e.,  $1.4/5 \times 100$ ). This would be categorized as a FSA score of 2 (high risk; Table 1). In this example, the impact of overfishing would be hypothesized to have a smaller effect than the impact of warm temperatures. In a recovery scenario considering only these two parameters, the theoretical action of closing the fishery would only result in a CAD increase from 1.4 to 2.1 units.

Predictions of system capacity from the Joe Models are quantitative in nature. Predicted system capacity is therefore directly testable using field data collected at appropriate scales.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The use of a 5 units as maximum system capacity is a hold over from when the Joe Models worked directly with FSA numbers. However, as FSA is categorical, it should not be treated as continuous. Furthermore, attempts at translating FSA into a response metric is not intuitive given non-linearity of the FSA categories (Table 1). Thus, the 5 unit scale in the example does not equate to FSA values but rather can be simply and intuitively converted to percent of reference condition through division by 5.

The novel and effective value of the Joe Modelling concept is in these two points: 1) any number of impacts or "stressors" can be efficiently added to the model; and 2) the potentially complex weighting of impacts is accomplished by simply using one easily measured output response metric. With respect to the first point, the additive (on the proportional scale) nature of the model means increasing stressor numbers necessarily lowers the predicted cumulative system capacity unless added stressors are at optimal conditions. Although this may impact predictions of cumulative system capacity, it does not detract from the prioritization of stressor importance or strategic selection of watersheds to test management actions.



Figure 2. Conceptual diagram of an example of a cumulative effects Joe Model and broad impact categories. Adult response metric is system capacity scaled to the reference condition.



Figure 3. Illustration of the multiplicative effect of three hypothetical stressor-response curves (impacts) on predicted cumulative adult status. Figure adapted from Reilly and Johnston (pers. comm.).

Alberta's cumulative effects Joe Models are not designed to be complex ecosystem-level models that capture synergistic or antagonistic interaction among impacts. They are also not meant to replace localized action plans requiring tactical, fine-scale, specific-site data. Rather, these are strategic, population-level models using the best available science to create reasonable hypotheses of cumulative effects and management actions. As such, the output from these models are treated not as forecasts, but as best available hypotheses whose predictions need to be tested and validated.

## Modelling Software

Although many computer programs can be used to create a cumulative effects model and quantify population responses, Alberta fisheries biologists generally use STELLA<sup>®</sup> modelling software (Richmond 2004). STELLA<sup>®</sup> allows users to quickly create system models in an interactive, real-time setting, such as stakeholder-participation workshops. Further, it easily allows the creation of models to run scenarios (e.g., climate change, complex mitigation actions). For Alberta fisheries biologists this provides a unique opportunity to create a cumulative effects model of impacts in a user-friendly platform that can be readily explained to stakeholder groups. This software and modelling process has been successfully used within Alberta Fisheries Management for over 20 years.

## How to Build a Cumulative Effects Joe Model

## Building the Stressor-Response Curves

As described above, Alberta's cumulative effects Joe Models rely on a series of combined stressor-response curves to characterize the effects of impacts and limiting factors on system capacity. While the model structure is quite simple, often participants have initial difficulty quantifying the expected complexities of individual stressor-response curves. A common initial response is, for example, "We don't have all the data to know the exact shape of the stressor-response curve for August flow".

Alberta fisheries biologists have found it useful to build out the preliminary model in a workshopstyle setting, and then make refinements and finalize details of the model by analyzing data and performing an in-depth search of any available and relevant scientific literature. Workshop attendees could then further comment on, and possibly refine the model in follow-up meetings. Dependent on objectives, workshop invitees could include provincial fisheries biologists, species experts, and select stakeholders. This allows all participants to list and explore the stressors they feel are important and then collaboratively build stressor-response curves.

For instance, to create the Joe Bull Trout model, participants at a 2017 workshop included stakeholders concerned with key impacts listed in the Bull Trout Conservation Management Plan (ASRD 2012). Participants discussed these, as well as other known limiting factors found in the literature, and some advocated for including impacts they were personally passionate about. Participants were then challenged to quantify the degree to which each of the stressors (acting independent of other stressors) was assumed to affect the status of an adult Bull Trout population. If for example, a participant was adamant that Bull Trout declines are largely due to summer water withdrawals from creeks by industry water trucks holding TDL's (temporary diversion licenses) they would need to appropriately support their claims by drawing the quantified population-level stressor-response curve. After this preliminary workshop bounding the stressors to be included in the model, fisheries biologists begin the lengthy task of combing through data and scientific works to support, refine, identify key uncertainties, and document the rationale for individual stressor-response curves. A second, lengthy and equally important task is required to quantify the stressor, including its expected value and precision (e.g., allocated water volume for all TDL licenses in the above example). Quantifying the stressor and its

uncertainty can be completed through a variety of methods including measured field data, regulatory documentation (e.g., licensing), GIS analysis, or modelling.

## Using Heuristics and Fearing Cognitive Bias in Building Stressor-Response Curves

It is common for fisheries biologists and stakeholders to initially view building a stressorresponse curve as impossibly daunting, e.g., "How can we possibly know the exact shape of this curve? It will take years of research!" A useful technique to solve this impasse is to break the complex question into smaller, simpler, and focused questions. These simpler questions designed to help answer complex issues are termed 'heuristics' (Tversky and Kahneman 1974).

For example, in a modelling workshop, a toxic chemical was proposed to have a potential population-level impact. The participants understood its lethal effects but felt that the precise intricacies of a stressor-response curve were too complex to understand. Instead of this complex question, they were asked if the absence of the chemical implied no effect. This was accepted as obvious, and the corresponding stressor-response was graphed as a point at "0 chemical concentration = maximum system capacity". The next heuristic question was "At what concentration is complete death of all fish expected?" Participants knew from laboratory experiments that 20 ppm was toxic, so that corresponding stressor-response was graphed as a point at "20 ppm = no system capacity". The next heuristic question was "What might the potential effect of 10 ppm be on a population, more specifically, is it likely higher, lower or equal to the two expected points?" The consensus answer was that it was likely higher than the linear line, but the exact value was uncertain. The resulting stressor-response curve was hyperstable, with clear endpoints (Figure 4). Depending on the level of the stressor (e.g., toxic chemical ppm), this level of detail for the stressor-response curve may be sufficiently adequate.



Figure 4. Theoretical stressor-response curve of a toxic chemical, with known endpoints and uncertain mid-points. Three possible types of curves are presented and participants can decide on the most likely relationship. By answering a few simple questions (heuristics), a more complex question can be logically addressed (Tversky and Kahneman 1974). The reference condition (maximum system capacity) is represented in this example as 5.

Although highly useful, reliance on heuristic questions to resolve complex issues can sometimes lead to severe systematic errors (Tversky and Kahneman 1974). Cognitive biases of representativeness, availability, and anchoring will undoubtedly influence stressor-response curves derived largely from opinion and heuristics. Was the curve influenced by representativeness (e.g., is the fish population under consideration similar or different from the population that was thought of to define the curve)? How does availability influence the curve (e.g., was a recent news event such as a major oil spill in a distant land influencing the participants view of oil spills in the local river under question)? Have the participants fallen under the bias of anchoring (e.g., did the first value that was mentioned create an artificial baseline for scaling the rest of the curve)? Active consideration and avoidance of these common (if not ubiquitous) cognitive biases is necessary to avoid making judgements that seem logical during the discussion at the moment, but may be markedly different with different participants, or under different conditions. Documentation of the reliability and confidence of stressor-response curves derived from heuristics is absolutely necessary in later stages of Joe Modelling, to define how inherent uncertainty affects the robustness of conclusions.

The importance of allowing participants adequate time and opportunities to describe their concerns, their world-view, and their concerns about consequences cannot be overstated. The value of the Joe Modelling process is that it can be built with the full participation all peoples, needing no expertise in western science or mathematics. Beliefs about cause and effects can transparently and clearly be used to influence the initial model output. Nonetheless, a functional model must adhere to best available mathematical and scientific relationships of cause and effect, and not unsupported opinions.

## Causation vs. Correlation

An important challenge is that the effects of each added stressor need to be thought of as independently acting on a population, and must be a causative hypothesis rather than a correlative relationship. That is, when developing the cumulative effects model, fisheries biologists should be careful to include the underlying mechanism hypothesized to be the cause. Analogous to impact statements, impact models and pathways diagrams of cumulative effects assessment (Hegmann et al. 1999), this is to ensure they do not 'double dip' and accidentally capture the effect of a single stressor multiple times. For example, road crossings can cause immediate and long-term effects on fish populations by providing increased angler access, altering habitat characteristics, fragmenting fish habitat and impeding fish movements necessary to complete life history processes (Warren and Pardew 1998; Gunn and Sein 2000; Harper and Quigley 2000; Morita and Yamamoto 2002; Park et al. 2008; Burford et al. 2009; MacPherson et al. 2012). However, this is correlative and cannot be captured in a single stressor-response curve. Rather, stream fragmentation from hanging culverts (MacDonald and Davies 2007; Bouska and Paukert 2009; Norman et al. 2009), increased sedimentation (Wellman et al. 2000; MacPherson et al. 2012), and higher angling mortality given road access (Gunn and Sein 2000) all likely contribute to declining fish populations. Therefore, when developing the stressor-response curves for each of these causative factors, the effect on the fish population is independent from the other two stressors. Management actions must then be connected back to their effect on stressor levels. Continuing the example, a management action that was to reduce road crossings must then separately account for the change in each stressor related to road crossings (i.e., fragmentation, sedimentation, and angling mortality).

The benefit of developing the cumulative effects Joe Model using this approach is that it forces all participants to be very clear about their conceptual models of how the system functions, the key impacts to fish populations, and what type of information they are based upon (i.e., personal anecdotal data versus empirical evidence) (Reilly and Johnston pers. comm.). This tends to

move the process away from being argumentative to more of a structured exploration and learning exercise.

It's important to note that when stressor-response curves are designed, they need to be developed at the appropriate scale in space and time. Data describing a specific stressor needs to be available to populate the model. The stressor of the impact will be at the chosen population scale (i.e., watersheds or individual lakes) and the response to that impact is the effect on an entire population. For example, a single high silt event on a Walleye spawning shoal in the spring could be catastrophic for any eggs deposited, but may have no population-level effect if there are many other undisturbed spawning shoals in the lake. Similarly, an invasive species may be pervasive and a major impact to a native trout species within a single isolated stream reach, but at a larger watershed-scale the effect on the native trout population is relatively minimal. As fisheries biologists work through the development of impact stressor-response curves, the importance of maintaining the appropriate population-level response in space and time is crucial.

All stressor-response curves are developed using the best available scientific information at the time, including analysis of spatial data (i.e., in-house GIS or using ALCES Online<sup>®</sup>), fisheries data available in the provincial Fisheries and Wildlife Information Management System database (FWMIS), and consensus of professional opinion developed during workshops. For each curve, a formal sensitivity analysis of both the input data and the hypothesized stressor-response relationship should be conducted (for more details see the modelling uncertainty and making robust conclusions section of this report). It is expected that there will be refinements to the curves and potentially more (or less) complex interactions between impacts as new fisheries information is collected and hypotheses are challenged during adaptive management and recovery actions.

## Incorporating Traditional Knowledge

Incorporating Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK) into the complexities of cumulative effects management and resource management holds considerable difficulties and important benefits (Berkes et al. 2000; Usher 2000; Houde 2007). These include the complexity of meeting important Canadian legislative requirements when dealing with species at risk (Mooers et al. 2010). A major difficulty of using modelling in a context of Aboriginal Traditional Knowledge (ATK) has been the perceived contrast between the holistic, interrelated cosmology of Indigenous peoples versus the isolated, mechanistic focus of western science (Tsuji and Ho 2002; Berkes 2012).

Using Joe Modelling has, in our limited experience, conformed more closely to systemsapproach, holistic view of human and fish ecosystem relationships, as contrasted to our experiences with single-species population dynamics modelling. In this sense, we have used Joe Modelling workshops to integrate useful parts of western science into ATK, rather than the opposite path of attempting to bring fragments of ATK into western science. As Moffa (2017) describes, an unfortunately dominant theme assumes traditional knowledge is subordinate to western science. Our use of the process of Joe Modelling instead initially assumes the holistic, interrelated view of a system is the underlying basis for understanding threats to that system. We ask, "What is it about fish you value?", and then ask, "What do you believe threatens those values?" The value of listening to participants, and being able to immediately and transparently connect their world view and understanding of threats to the cumulative system capacity is a key benefit of the Joe Modelling process. Participants can take pride of ownership of the process, and have a clear understanding of their results. In spite of the apparent benefits and simplicity of using this modelling process in workshops with Indigenous groups, we stress the critical importance of respect and professional involvement in these workshops. Ensuring ATK is collected and used in a respectful and rigorous manner is mandatory for successful understanding and knowing (Ellis 2005; CEAA 2015). Experienced facilitators and social scientists should be involved where possible. Techniques such as the Delphi method (Sutherland et al. 2013; Mukherjee et al. 2015), semi-directive interviews (Briggs 1986; Ferguson and Messier 1997; Huntington 1998) or other structured decision-making tools are useful, but require experienced practitioners for application to Indigenous knowledge (Gregory et al. 2012).

## Why Joe Modelling is not Population Dynamic Modelling

Dynamic models describe change in a system over time or space such that its future state depends on some aspects of its current state (Gurney and Nisbet 1998). Because the predicted response metric of the Joe Model is entirely independent of the model's current state, the model is static. Simply introducing a time-varying stressor does not make the model dynamic as there is no state dependence. Joe Modelling is similar to Habitat Suitability Index modelling, where the environmental habitat conditions are combined to form an index of population suitability (Hirzel and Le Lay 2008). Joe Models represent the population status under the simulated conditions of stressors, and not the time- or space-dependent dynamic process where the current state updates the future states.

Dynamic modelling is important at tactical-level recovery and management planning for at least two reasons. First, dynamic models provide a prediction on the recovery trajectory of a population in time or space. That is, a dynamic model addresses the question of "how quickly will a population respond?" Second, the dependence of future states on current, or even lagged, states in a dynamic model captures situations that would be impossible to predict from a static model. The simplest example of this is population extirpation. A dynamic model would predict an extirpated population remains extirpated regardless of stressor levels (unless there was immigration); in contrast, the Joe Model erroneously predicts recovery of an extirpated population if stressor levels are simply reduced. In Alberta, tactical-level issues of recovery under different management actions are explored using detailed models of species-specific population dynamics (Post et al. 2003; Sullivan 2003).

The strength of strategic-level static modelling is to rank stressors that are most likely affecting population recovery and focus management actions to test those predictions. Dynamic models should be used to address tactical level questions regarding recovery trajectories or depensatory processes that may arise from proposed management actions. Thus, there remains a level of onus for users of a Joe Model to ensure they are focusing tactical-level recovery efforts to support meaningful changes to fish population status.

Adding population dynamics to the Joe Models is simple. Because the response metric of Joe Models is analogous to population carrying capacity (system capacity) scaled by the reference condition (called the response metric  $K_{Joe}$  such that  $K_{Joe} = \frac{K}{K_{max}}$ , *K* is system capacity and  $K_{max}$  is the reference condition), a simple logistic growth model can be used to introduce population dynamics:

$$Z_{t+1} = \frac{K_{Joe} Z_t}{Z_t + e^{-r} (K_{Joe} - Z_t)}$$

where  $Z_t$  is the scaled population state  $(Z_t = \frac{N_t}{K_{max}})$  in year *t*;  $Z_{t+1}$  is the scaled population state the following year; and, *r* is the intrinsic rate of population growth (Gurney and Nisbet 1998).

Although simple to implement, we have found dynamic versions of the model can reduce the transparency and broad understanding held by stakeholders for the model. Furthermore, the perceived benefits of increased accuracy with a dynamic version are, in our experience, not usually justified. Complex details (and major uncertainties) of population dynamics are often best addressed in a different phase using a Management Strategy Evaluation process (Holland 2010; Punt et al. 2014). However, a dynamic version of the Joe Model may be warranted given certain situations, most notably if stressors do not follow a chronic but rather a pulsed pattern (e.g., periodic droughts, oil spills) or feedback loops occur (e.g., dependence of the fishing mortality rate on population status).

# Climate Change Modelling

The potential effects of climate change on the system capacity of a fish population can easily be simulated using Joe Modelling in a static format. In Alberta, the two main aspects of climate change that we have modelled as potentially affecting fish populations are temperature and precipitation; specifically increases in mean warmest month temperature, and changes in precipitation with associated effects on flows (including drought).

The primary data source we are using for climate change projections is from the software Climate WNA (Western North America) (Wang et al. 2016). We use the most recent version as published on <u>the UBC Forestry climate data website</u>. As of June 2019, this version is Climate WNA v.6.00. This program downscales large climate data sets such as PRISM and WorldClim to the local areas defined by the user. The climate data includes both historical data and future projections based on GCMs (general circulation models) corresponding to the Fifth Assessment Report of the IPCC (IPCC 2013). The output from these data and projections is a wide range of biologically relevant climate variables, such as growing degree-days, mean warmest month temperature, monthly precipitation, and frost-free period.

Climate projections for future periods are selected from 15 GCMs from Climate Model Intercomparison Project 5 (IPCC 2013). Typically, the scenario used in Alberta projections is the RCP 8.5 trajectory, which assumes that greenhouse gas emissions will continue to increase throughout the modelled period (2018 to 2080). A more optimistic scenario of emission peaking in 2040 and declining (RCP 4.5) can also be modelled. Future projections of selected climate variables are usually displayed as groups in 30-year time periods (i.e., 2011–2040 = 2025, 2041–2070= 2055, and 2071–2100 = 2085). Selecting the appropriate GCM is dependent on the purpose of the simulation, and can be the mean of the ensemble suite of GCMs, or a distribution of projections in the Joe Model to simulate a range of potential outcomes.

## Increases in Mean Warmest Month Temperature

The Joe Models used in Alberta typically have an input variable of temperature, usually defined as mean warmest month temperature (MWMT). As such, the linking of climate change to the Joe Model simulation is trivial; the GCM projection becomes the new input. This may be done as a static value for a particular future time (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Historical and future temperature data for headwaters of Racehorse Creek (Oldman River watershed). Data was derived from Climate WNA v5.51, for 1901 to 2016, and is mean August air temperature. Future projections from the ensemble of 15 GCMs suggest that increases in air temperature may result in conditions unsuitable for the two species of native salmonids in this watershed (Westslope Cutthroat Trout and Bull Trout).

Linking the climate data and projections of MWMT to stream temperature is more complex. If the original Joe Model stressor is air temperature, obviously no conversion is necessary. If stream temperature is required, the MWMT must be related to water temperature.

## Changes in Precipitation and Flow

The GCM projections in Climate WNA include potential changes to precipitation, scaled to season or month. In the Joe Models, input variables often include changes to summer or winter flow. In order to explore the possible changes to flow from climate change, the fisheries biologist must make assumptions relating precipitation to stream flow for the particular watershed of interest. This may be done empirically by relating the historical precipitation data from Climate WNA to historical flow data for that watershed. Future projections assume similar relationships persist. Fisheries biologists will need to explore the relationships between climate data and flow data to determine the most likely cause-effect correlations, such as seasonal precipitation patterns, influences of upstream watersheds, and the complexities of evapotranspiration with temperature changes.

A useful feature of Climate WNA is the historical precipitation data as used to understand the frequency of drought events. For example, a close relationship between spring and summer precipitation and low flow (drought) conditions in the stream might be assumed for a simulation. The historical data from Climate WNA for a specific watershed can be analyzed to determine the frequency of these events (Figure 6). The frequency of these drought events may be related via a stressor-response curve to adult fish density. Future projections of drought frequency would be associated with two factors: 1) precipitation; and 2) a trend of increased (or decreased) variance in drought events.



It is important to appreciate the high uncertainty associated with all these relationships and convey that uncertainty to any conclusions.

Figure 6. Historical and future precipitation data for headwaters of Racehorse Creek (Oldman River watershed). Data was derived from Climate WNA v5.51, for 1901 to 2016, and is precipitation as snow for March, April and May. Low flow events (droughts) that may have affected stream fish populations were observed in 2015 and 2016. Future projections from the ensemble of 15 GCMs suggest that decreases in precipitation may result in severe drought events.

## Modelling Uncertainty and Making Robust Conclusions

Uncertainty is inherent in all aspects of managing fisheries (Ludwig et al. 1993; Hilborn and Walters 1992; Fulton et al. 2010). How many fish are in a lake? How many anglers will attend? How many fish will they catch? What catch is acceptable to anglers, and to sustainability? Each step of almost every fisheries management decision process relies on answers that have ranges of possibilities. This intrinsic uncertainty, however, is seldom considered when assessing the strength of a decision (Harwood and Stokes 2003), or if considered, is usually defined as vaguely qualitative, e.g., "Given all the unknowns, that seems like a reasonable quota." Mathematical modelling and analysis, however, allows uncertainty to be addressed quantitatively.

A highly useful aspect of the Joe Modelling process is the ease of explicitly defining ranges of uncertainty in the stressor-response relationships as well as in the ranges of uncertainty inherent in the input parameters. By explicitly acknowledging this uncertainty and formalizing sensitivity analyses in Joe Modelling, fisheries biologists can improve their understanding of the potential consequences of uncertainty on the robustness of their conclusions. Critically, however, the model outputs are never "predictions with certainty". They are simply the logical result of explicitly stated inputs. Key drivers might be entirely unknown, stressor-response curves may be unique and unknown, and input variables may change significantly from year-to-year. The value of modelling is to demonstrate the effect of uncertainty, not eliminate it.

The formal process of Management Strategy Evaluation (Holland 2010; Punt et al. 2014) is an excellent framework for exploring the uncertainty inherent in the variety of potential alternate management actions. These potential actions must be selected with stakeholder involvement and should include social, economic and legal considerations. Testing and proposing the potential range of outcomes of the selected and proposed strategies, however, fully involves the role of the modellers and the quantitative aspects of the model.

Demonstrating uncertainty by using Joe Modelling has, in our experience, taken two related pathways; formal sensitivity analysis, and robustness analysis. Sensitivity analysis is done internally by the model builders and is primarily used to understand and strengthen the model structure. Robustness analysis is generally done externally, and primarily used in decision-making settings (e.g., public meetings, workshops, regulation design meetings).

## Sensitivity Analysis

Formal sensitivity analysis can be conducted during the model design phase to determine which stressors cause the most sensitive changes to the model output. The objective is to focus work, such as literature reviews or field studies, on parameters where reducing uncertainty can be most efficient and effective. In brief, understanding the sensitivity of Joe Modelling to stressor levels and stressor-response curves could be done by:

- 1. Adjusting stressor levels (input parameters) by a constant proportional amount to determine which have the largest output effect. Stressors with the largest effect require particular attention to uncertainty in their input values.
- 2. Redefine the stressor-response curves to produce a range of curves around the most likely curve to determine its effect on output. However, this is better tackled through more formal methods such as Bayesian networks (Scutari and Denis 2015) and is beyond the scope of the current Joe Models.

Within the modelling software of STELLA<sup>®</sup>, sensitivity analysis involving multiple input parameters (stressor levels) can be conducted under the "Run Sensitivity Spec" options. Interpretation of multiple runs of multiple variables, however, is complex. A logical, step-wise process of assessing variables and parameters is necessary.

## **Robustness Analysis**

Ultimately, the key objective of uncertainty analysis is to determine if a management action suggested by the model output is robust to the uncertainty in critical input parameters and curves (e.g., will the suggested action increase fish by the desired amount *under most situations* of uncertainty?). We refer to this as robustness analysis. It directly addresses the requirements quantifying uncertainty within the Management Strategy Evaluation process. Generally, more uncertainty results in the necessity of more precaution, and therefore more costs in management actions. Costs can be social, political, and economic. The value of robustness analysis in Joe Modelling is that this trade-off (uncertainty and costs) can be made explicit to decision-makers.

A simple example of demonstrating the effects of uncertainty on management robustness, and its inherent trade-off is shown in Figure 7. Joe Bull Trout is used to simulate a typical Alberta east slope watershed with multiple stressors, but with sediment, stream fragmentation, and angling effort as the key and controversial stressors. The first simulation shows the range in potential output (i.e., system capacity, a measure of adult Bull Trout density), when one variable, sediment, is modelled with variance. Possible outcomes for system capacity range from approximately 0.5 to 1.5, with a reference condition maximum of 5. The second simulation shows a slight increase in the range of possible outcomes when two variables (sediment and

fragmentation) are each modelled with variance. The third simulation shows a larger range of outcomes (from approximately 0.2 to 1.8) when all three variables, sediment, fragmentation, and angling effort, are each modelled with variance (in this example, all variables are modelled with variance represented by standard deviation of 25% of the mean).

The next analyses shown in Figure 7 deal with two management actions; a minor versus a major reduction in angler effort. The management question to be asked is, "What is the least action needed for obvious improvement?" In this sense, "obvious improvement" is the management necessity of having fish populations increase enough to be detected in a few watersheds (e.g., low sample size of experimental units), be obvious to anglers and politicians, and be likely to occur in spite of unexpected environmental variation. All management actions have social, political, and economic costs. Justifying these costs with the expected outcomes therefore cannot be entirely science-based. The results in Figure 7 demonstrate a visual method of explaining these trade-offs. The red line shows the possible outcome of a minor reduction (25%) in angler effort, while the blue line shows outcomes from a major reduction (90%) in effort. Fisheries biologists must decide if the possible range of outcomes is worth the costs of minor versus major angling reductions. The value of a clear visual explanation of robustness of a management action cannot be overstated.



Figure 7. Robustness analysis of three threats (sediment, fragmentation, and angling) and their variance (-v) in a Joe Bull Trout model to two management actions; a minor (25%) and a major reduction (90%) in angler effort. The simulation represents a typical east slope watershed with multiple stressors and a heavily stressed Bull Trout population.

In Figure 7, the grey to black lines show how the range of possible outcomes increase by combining variances of stressors. The light grey line of "Sediment-v" represents the possible outcomes of Bull Trout system capacity with variance in the sediment stressor, and all other stressors simulated with no variance. The darker grey line represents outcomes with variance in

sediment plus variance in fragmentation. The black line represents the increase in outcome uncertainty with the addition of variance in Angler Effort.

The robustness analysis is shown by the red and blue lines. The red line represents Angler Effort being reduced by a minor amount (to 75%), with expected system capacity being higher than 95% of the outcomes from original Angler Effort (black line) in only 21% of cases. The blue line represents Angler Effort being reduced by a major amount (to 10%), with expected outcomes being higher than 95% of the outcomes from original Angler Effort (black line) in 80% of cases. The major reduction in Angler Effort (blue line) was also higher than 95% of the minor reduction in Angler Effort (red line) in 58% of the cases.

## Scoring Data Reliability

Reliability of Joe Modelling input stressors are evaluated in the previously described robustness analysis, while for each of the three metrics assessing population integrity (CAD, CID and HAD) the overall quality of the data used to complete the population status assessment is evaluated. This addresses how likely the assessment is erroneous due to incorrect, inaccurate, or lacking data. The three monitoring metrics considered are monitoring quality, monitoring quantity, and monitoring timeliness. Specific definitions for each of the data reliability scores will depend on scale and the species being assessed. These should be defined and summarized for each species assessed. For example in the Bull Trout FSA, for data quality, standardized sampling programs with a randomized sampling design throughout the watershed would receive a score of 5, while an assessment made primarily on professional opinion would receive a 1. For data quantity, greater than 50 surveys sites from standardized sampling programs would be scored a 5, while less than 25 surveys sites and/or professional opinion would get a score of 1. Lastly, for data timeliness, data collected in the last 5 years was scored the highest quality while older data (>20 years) was scored the lowest (1). Note that in cases where the focal fish species was never surveyed in an HUC, a not applicable score or 'n/a' is permitted for the timeliness metric. Table 3 can be used as a guideline for evaluating data reliability.

Table 3. Alberta Fisheries Sustainability Assessment rankings for the quality, quantity, and timeliness of monitoring data used to assess population status.

#### FSA Scores for Monitoring Quality (Is the data precise and accurate?)

- 1 = Imprecise and inaccurate
- 2 = Precise but inaccurate data
- 3 = Accurate but imprecise
- 4 = Likely OK
- 5 = Precise and accurate

#### FSA Scores for Monitoring Quantity (Is sufficient data available to evaluate this metric?)

- 2 = Insufficient data
- 3 = Moderately sufficient data
- 4 = Nearly sufficient data
- 5 = Sufficient data

<sup>1 =</sup> No data

FSA Scores for Monitoring Timeliness (How likely is it the population being assessed is functionally different from when the last field data were collected?)
n/a = The focal fish species has never been surveyed
1 = Extremely different
2 = Very different
3 = Moderately different
4 = Slightly different
5 = Not different

## Cumulative Effects Model Template

While the creation of a cumulative effects Joe Model may seem daunting at first, several general themes of impacts and limitations can be used to guide the creation of a new model. To date, Alberta fisheries biologists have generated models for several fish species (e.g., Bull Trout, Westslope Cutthroat Trout, and Athabasca Rainbow Trout) and work is underway to complete other priority species. After completing this work, we have found that stressor-response curves can generally group into the following broad categories: habitat impacts (water quantity and flows, water quality, fragmentation, habitat loss, temperature), harvest impacts (angling mortality, by-catch mortality, research mortality, Indigenous fisheries), and invasive species impacts (disease, non-native species and hybrids) (Figure 2). A fourth category of limitations that is not human-caused impact, but can be considered a factor that "impacts" the sustainability of a population is natural limitations.

In this section, we use Bull Trout as an example and discuss each one of these broad impact categories and provide rationale and stressor-response curves. While not all categories may be applicable and some additional categories will need to be included, this section can be used as a general guiding template for the creation of a cumulative effects Joe Model. After the completion of individual models, we suggest writing individual summary reports that provide the species-specific stressor-response curves, impact rationale, and data reliability.

The Joe Model uses a proportional response metric (e.g., 0–100) which is system capacity (a measure of population density) scaled to a maximum reference condition density. The output from the Joe Models is the proportional response metric that can be scaled back to the population density (system capacity) by multiplying with the reference condition. The use of a 5 unit scale, with 5 being the maximum reference condition density, in this section is a hold over from when the Joe Models worked directly with FSA scores. However, as the FSA score is categorical it should not be treated as continuous, and thus, not used directly in the Joe Models. Furthermore, translating FSA scores into a continuous response metric is not intuitive given non-linearity of the FSA categories (Table 1). Thus, the 5 unit scale in stressor-response curves below do not equate to FSA scores but rather can be simply and intuitively converted to the dimensionless response metric (i.e., proportion of the maximum reference condition) through division by 5.

## Habitat Impacts

## Water Quantity and Flows

Fish rely on water to complete various life history processes, and dependent on species, the required quantity and flow regime will vary. Here we present the rationale supporting the inclusion of changes to water quantity and flow regime.

#### Water Quantity: Surface Water Withdrawals

The effect of water withdrawals during February (winter) and August (summer) on Bull Trout was investigated using a multi-step analytical approach based on the low-flow habitat performance measures developed by Hatfield and Paul (2015). First, it was assumed there was a 1:1 relationship between the minimum available habitat (bottleneck effect) and Bull Trout population system capacity. To measure habitat, an index presented by Hatfield and Paul (2015) was used which: a) sets all flows >20% Mean Annual Discharge (MAD) to a habitat score of 1 (i.e., maximum suitability); b) has a habitat score of 0 at zero flow (i.e., no suitability); and, c) has a habitat score between 0 and 1 for flows between 0 and 20% MAD using a linear relation. This simple rating curve means that a flow of just under 20% MAD will score close to the maximum of 1, whereas a substantially lower flow will score proportionally less. The index was then used to determine the reduction in habitat scores from water withdrawals. Because withdrawals would have the greatest impact on the habitat score during low flows (i.e., < 20% MAD), percent withdrawal was determined for two periods of the year (August and February) and the lowest 10% of flows (i.e.,  $Q_{90}$  or 90% exceedance flow) for these months. The approach was then applied to 37 rivers of varying size in Alberta that had year-round natural or naturalized (i.e., corrected for upstream water use) discharge and percent withdrawals ranging from 0–100% were modelled to assess the decrease in the habitat score from natural.

For February flow, all 37 rivers showed a similar linear response in the habitat score to water withdrawals. This average response was used as the basis for the stressor-response curve (Figure 8A). For August flows, the rivers showed a highly variable response in the habitat score to water withdrawals, ranging from linear (similar to February) to curvilinear with little initial response but increasing as withdrawals increased. The 75<sup>th</sup> percentile regression using a general additive model (Koenker 2017) was used to capture the curvilinear relationship (Figure 8B). The overall cumulative effects model only includes the season during which water withdrawals have the greatest effect on Bull Trout as physical habitat is assumed to limit populations by the minimum and not the combined product of February and August habitat.



Figure 8. Stressor-response curves depicting the expected relationship between changes in February (A) and August (B) flows and the system capacity of Bull Trout populations. System capacity (depicted from 0-5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

## Flow Regime: Modification of Timing and Frequency of Peak-Flow Events

For fish in flowing waters, changes in the magnitude and frequency of peak flow events may impact the sustainability of populations. For instance, for trout species increased discharge during spring runoff and additional peak flow events throughout the year may result in

downstream displacement of emerging fry (Ottaway and Clarke 1981) and also have negative effects on spring-spawning species that may be prey for trout (e.g., Seegrist and Gard 1972). Further, Jensen and Johnsen (1999) observed a negative correlation between year-class strength of two fall spawning salmonids and size of peak flood during the spring. There is also evidence that increased frequency of peak flow events can result in short and long term changes to river morphology that would impact trout, such as a reduction of habitat complexity and quantity of pool habitat (Lyons and Beschta 1983; Everest et al. 1985; Bonneau and Scarnecchia 1998) and the formation of an "oversized" channel. In several lotic trout Joe Models, fisheries biologists captured changes to flow in an index of potential hydrologic change to provide a gualitative description that captures the differences in the magnitude and frequency of peak flow events relative to the historic condition of the watershed. The potential for hydrologic change in watersheds was considered negligible when < 20% of the watershed was disturbed land (i.e., human footprint), low to moderate when 20-50% of the watershed was disturbed, and high when >50% of the watershed was disturbed (Figure 9A). These thresholds are similar to Equivalent Clear-cut Area hazard categories recommended by Alberta Forestry and Agriculture (Stednick 1996; Guillemette et al. 2005; Mike Wagner pers. comm.). In the absences of other impacts, it was assumed that trout populations are resilient to a low degree of change and could persist, albeit at very low density, in watersheds where hydrologic change is high (Figure 9B).



Figure 9. The hypothetical relationship between total human footprint area in a watershed and the Index of Hydrologic Change (A) and the predicted effect of hydrologic change on Bull Trout population system capacity (B). System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

## Water Quality

This category of impacts was included to capture changes to water quality (from the natural state) that would affect fish populations. Among others, this could include nutrient inputs (phosphorus or nitrogen), sedimentation and/or contaminants. For brevity, we only provide rationale for the inclusion of phosphorus.

## Phosphorus

Phosphorus is a major driver of primary production in aquatic ecosystems that affects other biotic and abiotic factors. Low-level inputs of phosphorus during oligotrophic stream fertilization projects in British Columbia have resulted in increased fish size and abundance due to substantial increases in trophic productivity with limited impact to water quality (Koning et al. 1998). However, higher levels of nutrient inputs lead to stream eutrophication and degraded water quality, including reduced nocturnal dissolved oxygen in summer (Jacobsen and Marin 2008; Chung 2013) and overall anoxic conditions that can impair biodiversity (Meijering 1991).

For example, degraded stream habitats and winterkill conditions in Alberta foothills were correlated with theoretical increases in phosphorus runoff due to land use at the watershed scale (Norris 2012).

Potential impacts caused by excessive phosphorous may be masked by other concurrent activities, making it difficult to establish the specific effects of phosphorous on fish. High variance is often observed when investigating complex ecological relationships (e.g., Cade and Guo 2000; Dunham et al. 2002a) and can be an indication that the dependent variable (i.e., fish system capacity) is affected by more than one factor (i.e., phosphorous) and that these other factors have not been measured or considered in the model (Cade and Noon 2003). In such cases, the relationship between the dependent variable (i.e., response) and factor of interest (i.e., stressor) is better represented by the rate of change near the maximum response using quantile regression, rather than the average response (Cade and Noon 2003; Figure 10A).

To quantify this relationship in the Bull Trout cumulative effects model, a stressor response curve for phosphorous was derived from the 90% quantile regression between current adult Bull Trout FSA score converted to the proportion of maximum system capacity (Table 1) and an index of phosphorus (i.e., the ratio of current export to undisturbed phosphate export, see description below). A range of quantiles was evaluated with the 90% quantile selected as it was statistically significant and most likely to exclude the effect of unmeasured factors on adult status (Cade and Noon 2003). To account for non-linear patterns in the stressor-response curve, additive quantile regression (Koenker 2017) was utilized. The smoothing parameter (lambda) in the quantile regression model was adjusted to produce the minimum AIC with the curve still intersecting with the x-axis. A stressor-response curve was derived from the quantile regression results by adjusting the statistical curve so a system capacity of 5 occurred at a phosphorous index score of 1 or less and the inflection point and x-intercept preserved (Figure 10B).



Figure 10. The observed relationship between adult Bull Trout status (proportion of maximum adult density) by HUC 8 watershed (AEP 2013) and phosphorous index (A) and the derived stressor-response curve used for modelling (B). Phosphorus index represents the ratio of current export to undisturbed phosphate export. The red line in the observed data (A) is the 90<sup>th</sup> quantile regression using general additive models, which provides a statistically based non-linear fit to the data. The 95% confidence intervals on the 90<sup>th</sup> quantile regression line are also shown. The derived stressor-response curve (B) was based on the statistical curve but adjusted so that a system capacity of 5 occurred at a phosphorous index score of 1 and an FSA score of 0 occurred at a phosphorous index score of 350. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

## Fragmentation

Culverts can fragment fish habitat and impede fish movements necessary for growth, survival, reproduction, gene flow, and colonization. Below we present the stressor-response curve for the effect of stream fragmentation from crossing structures on Bull Trout populations.

Bull Trout are a migratory fish that require connectivity between key spawning, rearing, feeding, and overwintering habitats. Habitat connectivity permits the exchange of individuals between populations, facilitating gene flow and the re-establishment of depleted populations. Habitat fragmentation and loss occurs when culverts and other stream crossing structures are improperly constructed or maintained. These structures may represent complete upstream and downstream movement barriers or partial barriers depending on stream flows. Several audits of crossing structures in northwestern Alberta watersheds reported that approximately half of assessed culverts were considered potential barriers to fish passage (Scrimgeour et al. 2003; Johns and Ernst 2007; Park et al. 2008).

In the absence of a provincial crossing status dataset, the assumption was that relatively high numbers of road crossing and densities indicate a greater risk of habitat fragmentation. There is a paucity of studies directly measuring population-level impacts of fragmentation on Bull Trout, although road density has been positively associated with reduced occupancy of the species (Ripley et al. 2005) and is correlated with road crossing densities within watersheds in the Bull Trout range (R<sup>2</sup>=0.59, J. Reilly, pers. comm.). The hypothetical relationship between road crossing density and Bull Trout system capacity was determined following the risk threshold approach outlined in MacPherson et al. (2014) using the highest estimated road crossing density (0.257 crossings/km<sup>2</sup>) to indicate the greatest degree of extirpation risk (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Stressor-response curve depicting the expected relationship between road crossing density within a watershed and the system capacity of Bull Trout populations. System capacity (depicted from 0-5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

## Habitat Loss

Habitat loss and degradation is often cited as a major impact and limiting factor for fish populations (e.g., ASRD 2012). Here, we present the rationale for the inclusion of habitat loss in the Bull Trout cumulative effects model. Of note, the effects of anthropogenic habitat degradation are captured in other stressor-response curves, so this category is exclusively meant to capture direct habitat loss.

Direct habitat loss can occur in part of the Bull Trout range. This type of loss is defined as the removal of portions of a natural stream, or replacement of portions of a natural stream with a different landscape feature. Strip-mining for coal in this region has deleted some stream

sections. They may be replaced with open-pit lakes, or with channeled stream analogs (i.e., a ditch).

The stressor-response curve for habitat loss is simply the percentage of stream habitat lost or converted to non-Bull Trout habitat (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Relationship between habitat loss and the effect on Bull Trout system capacity. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

#### **Invasive Species Impacts**

#### Disease

Dependent on fish species and location, there are numerous diseases that could affect a fish population. As an example, we discuss whirling disease (*Myxobolus cerebralis*) and its effect on Alberta Bull Trout populations.

In 2016 whirling disease was confirmed as present throughout the Bow River drainage in Alberta and it has since been confirmed in other provincial watersheds. Bull Trout are susceptible to whirling disease, though they are thought to have higher resistance than some other species, such as Rainbow Trout (Hedrick et al. 1999). Populations in the Bow River watershed are assumed to be exposed to whirling disease and it is likely that populations in other nearby watersheds will be exposed as well if whirling disease spreads. Sullivan and Spencer (2016) developed an age structured cohort model to estimate the effects of whirling disease on adult Bull Trout density. Juvenile annual mortality was estimated at 80% apart from the effect of whirling disease, and mortality was increased as the severity (scaled to combination of burden and prevalence) of whirling disease increased from low (82% mortality) to moderate (85% mortality) to high (87% mortality). These mortality rates reflect the lower sensitivity of Bull Trout to whirling disease than is noted for other species of trout. The structured cohort model was used to determine the effects of increased juvenile mortality on system capacity. The resulting system capacity was compared to system capacity with no whirling disease effect and scaled to a maximum of 5 to create a stressor-response curve (Figure 13). This is a strategic-level stressor-response, and as such does not include indirect effects of whirling disease such as growth rate or reproductive changes.



Figure 13. Stressor-response curve depicting the expected relationship between whirling disease effect (none = 0, low = 1, moderate = 3, and high = 5) and Bull Trout system capacity. System capacity (depicted from 0-5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

#### Exotic and Non-Native Species

Exotic species invasion is often identified as one the major impacts on North American inland fisheries as a result of human activities, either through replacement or displacement of native fishes (Volpe et al. 2001; Dunham et al. 2002b). An example of how Bull Trout competition with Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) was modelled follows.

#### Competition/Replacement: Brook Trout

Brook Trout is a wide-spread, invasive species that may compromise Bull Trout populations through competition (Warnock 2012, McMahon et al. 2007, Rieman et al. 2006). If successful, Brook Trout may displace or replace, native salmonids (Behnke 1992; Peterson et al. 2004; Fausch 2007; McGrath and Lewis Jr. 2007; Peterson et al. 2008; Earle et al. 2010a, b). Competition only occurs when resources are limited, or the system is near carrying capacity (Dunham et al. 2002b). Therefore, researchers should carefully examine available evidence to determine if Brook Trout are actually competing with Bull Trout, or if they are taking advantage of resources made available as a result of declining Bull Trout density due to other stressors (e.g., habitat changes, over-exploitation). In this latter and expected case, the Brook Trout are therefore replacing niche vacancies from missing Bull Trout, rather than displacing existing trout. The stressor-response curve (Figure 14) evaluates the expected impact of Brook Trout on Bull Trout sustainability relative to the overall carrying capacity of the system.



Figure 14. Stressor-response curve depicting the expected relationship between Brook Trout carrying capacity within a watershed and the system capacity of Bull Trout populations. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

#### Hybridization: Brook Trout

Bull Trout are known to hybridize with at least two other char species, Brook Trout (Kanda et al. 2002), and Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*) (Baxter et al. 1997), though within Alberta hybridization has only been observed with Brook Trout (Earle et al. 2010b). Though Bull Trout-Brook Trout hybrids are fertile, they have not been observed to produce hybrid swarms in areas of overlapping range (Kanda et al. 2002), and hybridization itself is seen as less of a threat than competition with non-native species. Where hybridization occurs hybrid individuals will compete with Bull Trout for space and resources, similarly to Brook Trout, though the impacts are generally minor given the small proportion of the total fish community they comprise. The stressor-response curve (Figure 15) evaluates the possible impact of Bull Trout hybrids on Bull Trout sustainability relative to the carrying capacity of the system.



Figure 15. Stressor-response curve depicting the expected relationship between hybrid Bull Trout occupancy (%) within a watershed and the system capacity of Bull Trout. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

#### Harvest Impacts

#### Mortality

In the Joe Models, direct mortality is often separated into natural causes, angling, entrainment, research and monitoring, and Indigenous harvest, although more variables can be added as required. Using these five mortality sources, the total annual mortality rate (A) can be calculated using the conditional rates of natural mortality (n), angling mortality (m), entrainment mortality (en), research and monitoring mortality (r), and Indigenous peoples harvest (i), by applying the following equation adapted from Ricker (1975):

$$A = 1 - [(1 - n) \times (1 - m) \times (1 - en) \times (1 - r) \times (1 - i)]$$

The stressor-response curve for direct mortality (Figure 16) is based on the results from modelling using a modified version of the Bull Trout model of Post et al. (2003). Assuming a conditional mortality rate of 20% from natural causes (Post et al. 2003) a Bull Trout population was shown to switch from growth overfishing to recruitment overfishing (assumed to occur at  $\frac{1}{2}$  of maximum system capacity) if the combined conditional rate of mortality from other sources exceeds 8% and extirpation occurring when additional mortality exceeds 12%.



Figure 16. Stressor-response curve depicting the expected relationship between total annual mortality and the system capacity of Bull Trout populations. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

Using Bull Trout as an example, we briefly discuss one of the sources of direct mortality.

## Incidental Angling Mortality and Illegal Harvest

Bull Trout were legally harvested throughout the eastern slopes in accessible watersheds prior to the implementation of the province-wide zero harvest regulation in 1995 (ASRD 2012). Angling, however, may still represent a major impact to population sustainability from incidental mortality (i.e., mortality due to stress or physical damage from hooking or improper handling) in spite of catch-and-release regulations. Illegal harvest, either intentional or due to misidentification, may also contribute to population declines. The combination of incidental mortality and illegal harvest will be unsustainable if angling effort is sufficiently high (Post et al. 2003; Sullivan 2018). Past case studies demonstrate that in east slope streams and lakes, some but not most Bull Trout populations are capable of recovering relatively quickly (5–10 years) from an over-exploited state under zero harvest regulations and complete angling closures (Johnston et al. 2007; Sullivan 2014; Reilly et al. 2016). However, widespread recovery of Bull Trout populations has not occurred in the situation of catch-and-release regulations and high angler effort.

## Impacts from Natural Limitations

In the absence of anthropogenic influences, fish species are naturally limited by other environmental variables. These limitations occur at varying spatial scales and include both biotic (e.g., productivity, fish community) and abiotic features (e.g., temperature, substrate composition, lake depth, lake size, stream velocity). These variables need to be captured in the cumulative effects model. As an example, we explore how stream temperature naturally limits Bull Trout.

Bull Trout is a thermally sensitive species vulnerable to increased water temperature resulting from land disturbance and climate change (ASRD 2012). The thermal characteristics of Bull Trout habitat in Alberta were explored by comparing mean warmest month temperature (MWMT) derived using the program Climate WNA<sup>©</sup> (Hamann and Wang 2005; Wang et al. 2016) to all locations where Bull Trout have been captured between 1946–2013 (FWMIS guery, Nov. 2013; Figure 17A). Air temperature was used in this analysis because there is currently no province-wide water temperature dataset or model available. In addition, air and water temperatures are typically correlated over time scales >1 week (Mohseni et al. 1998). The minimum and maximum air temperature thresholds (10°C and 17°C; Figure 17A) were similar to those reported in previous laboratory and field studies investigating the effects of water temperature on Bull Trout growth and survival (Selong et al. 2001) and occupancy (Dunham et al. 2003; Wenger et al. 2011). The rapid decline in the number of occurrences between 13°C to 11°C is likely due to sampling bias (i.e., there are fewer sampling events in cold, high-elevation areas that are difficult to access). The findings of this analysis were used to inform the shape of the stressor-response curve below, which characterizes the expected influence of warm temperature on the system capacity of Bull Trout populations (Figure 17B).



Figure 17. A) Thermal range of occupied Bull Trout waters within historic Bull Trout range. B) Stressorresponse curve informed using thermal range data. This curve depicts the expected relationship between air temperature and system capacity of Bull Trout. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5. Not pictured: thermal profile for entire Bull Trout range.

## Summarizing Model Results

Once populated, the output of a cumulative effects Joe Model is a predicted system capacity for a population of interest. While this is the primary model output, Alberta fisheries biologists have found that the model can also be used to summarize impacts and limiting factors into three major impact categories: habitat (loss and degradation), hybrids (non-native and exotic species) and harvest (sources of direct mortality). This can be a very useful graphic to quickly convey a complex message to the public (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Output of a Joe Model depicting adult system capacity of each impact category. The bars reaching the top of the graph suggest little to no effect on adult density, and the lowest bars suggest the strongest negative effect. System capacity (depicted from 0–5) is a measure of adult density relative to a maximum attainable capacity of 5.

## Model Validation and Adaptive Management: an Example

The fundamental goal of the FSA (assess status and assess threats) is to provide a framework for learning how we can recover populations at risk. Although this might seem overly pedagogical and the fundamental goal should be recovery, without learning our actions become inseparable from unexplained variance and their efficacy lost. FSA lends itself to an adaptive management approach with the Joe Models evaluating hypotheses and the FSA score providing a common means to publicly report status.

Bull Trout management in the Clearwater River Watershed of west central Alberta provides an example of this adaptive management approach (Figure 19). Several management actions or combinations of management actions were hypothesized and assessed using the Joe Model for the watershed (Table 4). Actions with the largest predicted increase in system capacity were given higher priority for implementation and testing.



Figure 19. Clearwater River watershed in west central Alberta.

The benefit of Joe Modelling quickly becomes apparent. Statements like "water quality is the problem" or "continued angling threatens the population" no longer make sense. A one-size-fitsall recovery action does not apply across all sub-basins (Table 4). Bull Trout in sub-basins toward the more pristine headwaters (e.g., Clearwater River above Elk Creek) were not predicted to see a benefit from improved water quality. In contrast, sub-basins in more developed areas of the watershed (e.g., Seven Mile Creek) were predicted to see improvements from water quality. These are testable predictions.

The proposed management action from Alberta's fisheries biologists for the larger (HUC 8) Clearwater River watershed was: a) close the watershed to fishing; b) remediate road crossings; and, c) improve water quality through erosion control and reestablishment of riparian zones (Table 4). The predicted result of these actions was to be a large and detectable increase in the watershed's adult Bull Trout population. Furthermore, the proposed action for the Clearwater River was one of several HUC 8 watersheds across the province for which a combination of management actions were proposed as part of a replicated before-after control-impact study design. Not surprisingly, the political palatability of such a large-scale experiment was low and fisheries biologists faced either abandoning efforts entirely or retooling their proposal (Schneider 2019). An unforeseen benefit from the Joe Modelling was the rapid and transparent ability for fisheries biologists to propose smaller-scale experiments for actions that would be supported politically, while also capturing lost recovery potential. In the Clearwater, this consisted of road crossing remediation and water quality improvements in sub-basins where these actions were predicted to have a detectable effect but with a trade-off in: lost recovery potential; and, continued uncertainty in the efficacy of angling closures to population recovery. Table 4. Example of current predicted system capacity for adult Bull Trout in sub-basins (HUC 10watersheds) of the larger Clearwater River watershed (HUC 8) and the predicted change to the systemcapacity from implementation of several recovery actions.

						Re	covery	Actio	n(s)	
HUC8	HUC10	HUC10 Name	Predicted System Capacity	Fishing Regs	Road Crossing Remediation	Improve WQ	Fishing Regs & Road Crossing Remediation	Fishing Regs & Improve WQ	Road Crossing Remediation & Improve WQ	Fishing Regs & Road Crossing Remediation & Improve WQ
				P	Predic	ted Cl	nange to	o Syst	em Cap	acity <sup>1</sup>
11010301	1101030101	Clearwater River – Banff National Park	3.2	P 1.5	<b>Predic</b> 0.0	<b>ted Cl</b> 0.0	nange to 1.5	<b>5 Syst</b>	<b>em Cap</b> 0.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5
11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek	3.2 3.1	P 1.5 1.5	<b>Predic</b> 0.0 0.0	<b>ted Cl</b> 0.0 0.0	nange to 1.5 1.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5	<b>em Cap</b> 0.0 0.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5
11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2	P 1.5 1.5 1.5	Predic 0.0 0.0 0.0	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5	<b>em Cap</b> 0.0 0.0 0.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	Predic 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	Predic 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105 1101030106	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek Elk Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2 1.8	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8	Predic 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105 1101030106 1101030107	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek Elk Creek Middle Clearwater River	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 3.2 1.8 1.6	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.7	Predic 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.9	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.9	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.1	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.4
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105 1101030106 1101030107 1101030108	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek Elk Creek Middle Clearwater River Limestone Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 1.8 1.6 1.9	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.7 0.9	Predic        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.1        0.4	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.9 0.3	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.9 1.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.1 1.3	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 0.8	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.4 2.1
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105 1101030106 1101030107 1101030108 1101030109	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek Elk Creek Middle Clearwater River Limestone Creek Seven Mile Creek	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 1.8 1.6 1.9 0.6	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.7 0.9 0.3	Predic        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.1	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.9 0.3 1.6	nange to 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.9 1.5 0.5	5 Syst 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.1 1.3 2.6	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 0.8 2.1	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.4 2.1 3.3
11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301 11010301	1101030101 1101030102 1101030103 1101030104 1101030105 1101030106 1101030107 1101030108 1101030109 1101030110	Clearwater River – Banff National Park Clearwater River above Elk Creek Forbidden Creek Timber Creek Washout Creek Elk Creek Middle Clearwater River Limestone Creek Seven Mile Creek Tay River	3.2 3.1 3.2 3.2 1.8 1.6 1.9 0.6 0.7	P 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.8 0.7 0.9 0.3 0.3	Predic        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.0        0.1        0.4        0.3	ted Cl 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 0.9 0.3 1.6 1.2	nange to        1.5        1.5        1.5        0.8        0.9        1.5        0.5        0.8	Syst        1.5        1.5        1.5        1.5        2.8        2.1        1.3        2.6        2.1	em Cap 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 0.8 2.1 2.0	acity <sup>1</sup> 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 2.8 2.4 2.1 3.3 3.3

<sup>1</sup> Incremental change in predicted system capacity indicated by green highlighting.

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Alberta's Fisheries Sustainability Assessment is a two-step, standardized process to 1) assess status (i.e., estimate current status of fish populations in relation to desired status), and 2) assess threats (i.e., quantitatively assess potential cumulative threats and effects of mitigation to that status). It builds upon important international principles of fisheries management and conservation, including the United Nations Code of Conduct of Responsible Fisheries and Management Strategy Evaluations. Further, it adapts these important principles to the specific issues of multiple stocks of freshwater fish as threatened by a complexity of cumulative effects. This has become an efficient and effective method to consistently manage many different species and fish stocks in a large and diverse landscape such as Alberta. Importantly, the FSA allows for structured decision making by contrasting current to desired status, prioritizing potential management actions and trade-offs necessary to achieve management objectives and, thus, identify actions for active adaptive management experiments (Walters 1986; Walters 1997; Irwin et al. 2011).

This represents a novel advancement from previous fish management and recovery plans in Alberta, where potential impacts were simply listed and qualitatively discussed for a species as a whole. Little attention was given to quantifying each impact in terms of severity or in terms of effect on the species. Virtually no attention was directed to identifying specific impacts at the population level.

The Joe Model, however, requires fisheries biologists to consistently, and using best-availablescience, quantitatively describe their concerns, both at the species-scale (i.e., explicitly define the stressor-response curves), and at the local population-scale (i.e., explicitly quantify the stressor at that scale). This has had a major change to meetings and discussions on species recovery in Alberta. Prior to having these tools available, fisheries decisions were often based on anecdotal examples or small-scale unreplicated studies extrapolated to provincial scales. Qualitative arguments and statements were the norm, e.g., "I've seen sediment right on spawning beds in Moose Creek, therefore, we need to increase buffer widths on all forestry operations". Statements such as these will undoubtedly continue (and can be very important and useful as observations), but their over-riding influence on provincial-level policy and decisions is fading. When such statements are now made, the proponent is usually challenged to draw the stressor-response curve, explain the mechanism, and quantify the stressor.

Addressing the uncertainties from any modelling simulation are key. We consider the model outputs as hypotheses, not predictions. We favour using an adaptive management approach to explicitly test hypotheses (Walters 1986; Sullivan 2003; Arlinghaus et al. 2017). Further, evaluation of stressor-response relationships from the Joe Model can be done by comparing predicted adult system capacity against the observed adult system capacity following adaptive management experiments.

As with any major change, there have been (and will continue to be) difficulties. The adoption of the FSA represents a major shift in Alberta's fisheries management culture. Fisheries biologists are required to be proficient and conversant in computer modelling and simulation. Data derived from remote sensing is as important as field sampling. These skills are not trivial to learn, and understand. Professional judgement based on opinion can become discounted in favour of empirical data and relevant experience. The change has not been easy for some fisheries biologists, nor is it appreciated by long-term stakeholders versed in value-based, non-empirical arguments.

In spite of the difficulties, the availability of a standardized assessment of status and impacts has resulted in a much more consistent and rigorous approach to fisheries management in Alberta, across all species and populations. Field projects and techniques are consistent over all areas, and regional staff are able to move and assist seamlessly across multiple projects, as manpower and priorities change. Data is consistent and can be shared and compared across a species' Alberta range. Regulations and management actions are more consistent and aligned at a provincial-scale. Communication of the fishery status and objectives to all stakeholders has been simplified. Justification of regulations and management actions is more consistent and logical.

As identified by Artelle et al. (2018), four fundamental and interrelated characteristics of an effective science-based natural resource management agency are: measureable objectives; quantitative information of populations and impacts including uncertainty; transparency; and independent review. Alberta's FSA specifically addresses and meets these objectives. The FSA continues to be an evolving, rational, quantitative process that brings consistency to individual fish stocks and cumulative effects assessments province-wide. These changes offer an effective approach to the recovery and sustainability of Alberta's fish and fisheries.

## REFERENCES CITED

- AEP (Alberta Environment and Parks). 2013. <u>Bull Trout Fish Sustainability Index</u>. Alberta Fish and Wildlife Policy Branch, Edmonton, Alberta.
- AEP (Alberta Environment and Parks). 2018. Electrofishing standard for sampling of rivers in Alberta. Fisheries Management, Policy and Operations Branch, AEP. April 2018. 24 p.
- AESRD (Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development). 2012. Alberta's Biodiversity Management System. Internal draft prepared by H. Norris. 65 p. Available upon request from: Fish and Wildlife Policy, 6909-116 Street, Edmonton, AB T6H 4P2.
- AESRD. 2014. Fish conservation and management strategy for Alberta. Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, Edmonton, AB. 56 p.
- ASRD (Alberta Sustainable Resource Development). 2008. Standard for the initial sampling of small streams in Alberta. Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Edmonton, AB. 25 p.
- ASRD. 2010. Standards for index netting of walleye in Alberta. Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Edmonton, AB. 20 p.
- ASRD. 2012. Bull Trout Conservation Management Plan 2012-17. Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Species at Risk Conservation Management Plan No. 8, Edmonton, AB. 90 p.
- Arlinghaus, R., K. Lorenzen, K., Johnson, B.M., Cooke, S.J., and Cowx, I.G. 2016. Management of freshwater fisheries: addressing habitat, people and fishes. *In* Freshwater Fisheries Ecology. Edited by J. F. Craig John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. pp. 557–579.
- Arlinghaus, R., Alós, J., Beardmore, B., Daedlow, K., Dorow, M., Fujitani, M., Hühn, D., Haider, W., Hunt, L.M., Johnson, B.M., Johnston, F., Klefoth, T., Matsumura, S., Monk, C., Pagel, T., Post, J.R., Rapp, T., Riepe, C., Ward, H., and Wolter, C. 2017. Understanding and managing freshwater recreational fisheries as complex adaptive social-ecological systems. Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac. 25(1): 1–41.
- Artelle, K.A., Reynolds, J.D., Treves, A., Walsh, J.C., Paquet, P.C., and Darimont, C.T. 2018.
  Hallmarks of science missing from North American wildlife management. Sci. Adv. 4(3).
  eaao0167. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aao0167
- Athabasca Rainbow Trout Recovery Team. 2014. Alberta Athabasca Rainbow Trout Recovery Plan, 2014-2019. Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, Alberta Species at Risk Recovery Plan No. 36. Edmonton, AB. 111 p.
- Baxter, J.S., Taylor, E.B., Devlin R.H., Hagen, J. and McPhail, J.D. 1997. Evidence for natural hybridization between Dolly Varden (*Salvelinus malma*) and Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) in a northcentral British Columbia watershed. Can. J. Fish. Aq. Sci. 54: 421-429.
- Beard, T.D., Jr., Arlinghaus, R., Cooke, S.J., McIntyre, P.B., De Silva, S., Bartley, D., and Cowx, I.G. 2011. Ecosystem approach to inland fisheries: research needs and implementation strategies. Biol. Lett. 7(4): 481–483.
- Behnke, R.J. 1992. Native trout of Western North America. American Fisheries Society Monograph 6, Bethesda, MD. 275 p.
- Berkes, F. 2012. Sacred Ecology. Third edition. Routledge, New York, USA. 367 pp.
- Berkes, F., Colding, J., and Folke, C. 2000. Rediscovery of traditional ecological knowledge as adaptive management. Ecol. Appl. 10(5): 1251–1262.

- Bonar, S.A., Hubert, W.A., and Willies, D.W. 2009. Standard Methods for Sampling North American Freshwater Fishes. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, MD. 335 p.
- Bonneau, J.L., and Scarnecchia, D.L. 1998. Seasonal and diel changes in habitat use by juvenile Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) and cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarki*) in a mountain stream. Can. J. Zool. 76(5): 783–790.
- Bouska, W.W., and Paukert, C.P. 2009. Road crossing designs and their impact on fish assemblages of Great Plains streams. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 139: 214–222.
- Briggs, C.L. 1986. Learning how to ask: A Sociolinguistic Appraisal of the Role of the Interview in Social Science Research. Cambridge University Press. 155 p.
- Brown, M. 2017. Passive Monitoring Protocols for Fisheries Sustainability Assessments. Fisheries Management, Policy and Operations Branch, AEP.
- Burford, D.D., McMahon, T.E., Cahoon, J.E., and Blank, M. 2009. Assessment of trout passage through culverts in a large Montana drainage during summer low flow. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 29(3): 739–752.
- Cade, B.S., and Guo, Q. 2000. Estimating effects of constraints on plant performance with regression quantiles. Oikos 91(2): 245–254.
- Cade, B.S., and Noon, B.R. 2003. A gentle introduction to quantile regression for ecologists. Front. Ecol. Environ. 1(8): 412–420.
- CEAA (Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency). 2015. <u>Considering aboriginal traditional</u> <u>knowledge in Environmental assessments conducted under the Canadian Environmental</u> <u>Assessment Act, 2012.</u> Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. 6 p.
- Chipeniuk, R.C. 1975. Lakes of the Lac la Biche District. R.C. Chipeniuk. 318 p.
- Chung, C. 2013. Diel oxygen cycles in the Bow River: Relationships to Calgary's urban nutrient footprint and periphyton and macrophyte biomass. Thesis (M.Sc.) University of Calgary, Calgary, AB. 92 p.
- DFO. 2014a. <u>A science-based framework for assessing the response of fisheries productivity to</u> <u>state of species or habitats.</u> DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2013/067. 39 p.
- DFO. 2014b. <u>Guidance on assessing threats, ecological risk and ecological impacts for species</u> <u>at risk.</u> DFO. Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2014/013. 21 p.
- Deroba, J.J., and Bence, J.R. 2012. Evaluating harvest control rules for lake whitefish in the Great Lakes: accounting for variable life-history traits. Fish. Res. 121–122: 88–103.
- Douglas, S. 1977. A Candle in the Grub Box; the Story of Frank Jackson as told to Sheila Douglas. Shires Books, Victoria, BC. 144 p.
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Lévêque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L.J., and Sullivan, C.A. 2006.
   Freshwater biodiversity: importance, impacts, status and conservation challenges. Biol. Rev. 81(2): 163–182.
- Dunham, J., Cade, B.S., and Terrell, J.W. 2002a. Influences of spatial and temporal variation on fish-habitat relationships defined by regression quantiles. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 131: 86–98.
- Dunham, J., Adams, S.B., Schroeter, R.E., and Novinger, D.C. 2002b. Alien invasions in aquatic ecosystems: Toward an understanding of brook trout invasions and potential impacts on inland cutthroat trout in western North America. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 12: 373–391.

- Dunham, J., Rieman, B., and Chandler, G. 2003. Influences of temperature and environmental variables on the distribution of Bull Trout within streams at the southern margin of its range. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 23(3): 894–904.
- Earle, J.E., Paul, A.J., and Stelfox, J.D. 2010a. Quirk Creek population estimates and one-pass electrofishing removal of Brook Trout 2009. Unpublished report, Fish and Wildlife Division, Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Cochrane, AB. viii + 57 p.
- Earle, J.E., Stelfox, J.D., and Meagher, B.E. 2010b. Quirk Creek Brook Trout suppression project – 2009. Unpublished report, Fish and Wildlife Division, Alberta Sustainable Resource Development, Cochrance, AB. viii + 40 p.
- Ellis, S. 2005. Meaningful consideration? A review of traditional knowledge in environmental decision making. Arctic. 58: 66–77.
- Everest, F.H., Armantrout, N.B., Keller, S.M., Parante, W.D., Sedell, J.R., Nickelson, T.E., Johnston, J.M., and Haugen, G.N. 1985. Salmonids. *In* Management of Wildlife and Fish Habitats in Forests of Western Oregon and Washington. Edited by E.R. Brown. USDA Forest Service, Portland, Oregon. pp. 199–230.
- FAO. 1995. Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome. 41 p.
- FAO. 2012. Technical guidelines for responsible fisheries; recreational fisheries. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations. Number 13. 176 p.
- Faber-Langendoen, D., Master, L., Nichols, J., Snow, K., Tomaino, A., Bittman, R., Hammerson, G., Heidel, B., Ramsay, L., and Young, B. 2009. NatureServe Conservation Status Assessments: Methodology for Assigning Ranks. NatureServe, Arlington, VA. 42 p.
- Fausch, K.D. 2007. Introduction, establishment and effects of non-native salmonids: considering the risk of rainbow trout invasion in the United Kingdom. J. Fish Biol. 71: 1–32.
- Ferguson, M., and Messier, F. 1997. Collection and analysis of traditional ecological knowledge about a population of tundra caribou. Arctic. 50: 17–28.
- Fulton, E., Smith, A., Smith, D., and Putten, I. 2010. Human behaviour: the key source of uncertainty in fisheries management. Fish Fish. 12: 2–17.
- Gregory, R., Failing, L., Harstone, M. Long, G., McDaniels, T., and Ohlson, D. 2012. Structured Decision Making: A Practical Guide to Environmental Management Choices. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, UK. 312 p.
- Guillemette, F., Plamondon, A.P., Prévost, M., and Lévesque, D. 2005. Rainfall generated stormflow response to clearcutting a boreal forest: peak flow comparison with 50 world-wide basin studies. J. Hydrol. 302(1–4): 137–153.
- Gunn, J.M, and Sein, R. 2000. Effects of forestry roads on reproductive habitat and exploitation of lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) in three experimental lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(S2): 97–104.
- Gurney, W.S.C., and Nisbet, R.M. 1998. Ecological Dynamics. Oxford University Press. 352 p.
- Hamann, A., and Wang, T. 2005. Models of climatic normals for genecology and climate change studies in British Columbia. Agr. Forest Meteorol. 128(3–4): 211–221.
- Hansen, G.J.A., Gaeta, J.W., Hansen, J.F., and Carpenter, S.R. 2015. Learning to manage and managing to learn: Sustaining freshwater recreational fisheries in a changing environment. Fisheries 40(2): 56–64.

- Harper, D.J., and Quigley, J.T. 2000. No net loss of fish habitat: an audit of forest road crossings of fish-bearing streams in British Columbia, 1996–1999. Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2319: vi + 43 p.
- Harwood, J., and Stokes, K. 2003. Coping with uncertainty in ecological advice: lessons from fisheries. Trends Ecol. Evol. 18(12): 617–622.
- Hatfield, T., and Paul, A.J. 2015. A comparison of desktop hydrologic methods for determining environmental flows. Can. Water Resour. J. 40(3): 303–318.
- Hedrick, R.P., McDowell, T.S., Mukkatira, K., Georgiadis, M.P., and MacConnell, E. 1999. Susceptibility of selected inland salmonids to experimentally induced infections with *Myxobolus cerebralis*, the causative agent of whirling disease. J. Aquat. Anim. Health. 11(4): 330–339.
- Hegmann, G., Cocklin, C., Creasey, R., Dupuis, S., Kennedy, A., Kingsley, L., Ross, W.,
  Spaling, H., and Stalker, D. 1999. Cumulative Effects Assessment Practitioners Guide.
  Prepared by AXYS Environmental Consulting Ltd. and the CEA Working Group for the
  Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency, Hull, QC. Various pagination.
- Hilborn, R. and Walters, C. 1992. Quantitative Fisheries Stock Assessment; Choice, Timeseries, and Uncertainty. Chapman and Hall, New York. 570 p.
- Hirzel, A.H. and Le Lay, G. 2008. Habitat suitability modelling and niche theory. J. Appl. Ecol. 45(5): 1372–1381.
- Holland, D.S. 2010. Management Strategy Evaluation and Management Procedures: Tools for Rebuilding and Sustaining Fisheries. OECD Food Agriculture and Fisheries Working Papers, No. 25, OECD Publishing. 66 p.
- Houde, N. 2007. The six faces of traditional ecological knowledge: challenges and opportunities for Canadian co-management arrangements. Ecol. Soc. 12(2):34.
- Hunt, L.M., Fenichel, E.P., Fulton, D.C., Mendelsohn, R., Smith, J.W., Tunney, T.D., Lynch, A.J., Paukert, C.P., and Whitney, J.E. 2016. Identifying alternate pathways for climate change to impact inland recreational fishers. Fisheries. 41(7): 362–372.
- Huntington, H.P. 1998. Observations on the utility of the semi-directive interview for documenting traditional ecological knowledge. Arctic. 51(3): 237–242.
- IPCC. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. 1535 p.
- Irwin, B.J., Wilberg, M.J., Jones, M.L., and Bence, J.R. 2011. Applying structured decision making to recreational fisheries management. Fisheries. 36(3): 113–122.
- IUCN. 2008. Strategic Planning for Species Conservation: A Handbook. Version 1. The Species Conservation Planning Task Force, Species Survival Commission. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK. 104 p.
- Jacobsen, D., and Marin, R. 2008. Bolivian Altiplano streams with low richness of macroinvertebrates and large diel fluctuations in temperature and oxygen. Aquat. Ecol. 42: 643–656.
- Jensen, A.J., and Johnsen, B.O. 1999. The functional relationship between peak spring floods and survival and growth of juvenile Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*) and Brown Trout (*Salmo trutta*). Funct. Ecol. 13(6): 778–785.

- Johns, T., and Ernst, T. 2007. Culvert crossings as potential barriers to fish movement in the Kakwa River Watershed, Alberta. Alberta Conservation Association, Peace River, AB. vii + 23 p.
- Johnston, F.D., Post, J.R., Mushens, C.J., Stelfox, J.D., Paul, A.J., and Lajeunesse, B. 2007. The demography of recovery of an overexploited Bull Trout, *Salvelinus confluentus*, population. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 64: 113–126.
- Kanda, N., Leary, R.F., and Allendorf, F.W. 2002. Evidence of introgressive hybridization between Bull Trout and Brook Trout. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 131(4): 772–782.

Koenker, R. 2017. quantreg: <u>Quantile Regression</u>. R package version 5.33.

- Koning, C., Ashley, K., Slaney, P., and Paul, A. 1998. Stream fertilization as a fisheries mitigation technique for perturbated oligotrophic trout streams in British Columbia. *In* Proceedings of the Forest-Fish Conference: Land Management Practices Affecting Aquatic Ecosystems, May 1–4, 1996, Calgary, AB. Edited by M.K. Brewin and D.M.A. Monita. Nat. Resource Canada, Edmonton, AB, Inf. Rep. NOR-X-356. pp. 109–120.
- Ludwig, D., Hilborn, R., and Walters, C. 1993. Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history. Science. 260: 17, 36.
- Lyons, J.K., and Beschta, R.L. 1983. Land use, floods, and channel changes: Upper Middle Fork Willamette River, Oregon (1936–1980). Water Resour. Res. 19(2): 463–471.
- MacDonald, J.I., and Davies, P.E. 2007. Improving the upstream passage of two galaxiid fish species through a pipe culvert. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 14(3): 221–230.
- MacPherson, L.M., Sullivan, M.G., Foote, A.L., and Stevens, C.E. 2012. Effects of culverts on stream fish assemblages in the Alberta foothills. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 32(3): 480–490.
- MacPherson, L., Coombs, M., Reilly, J., Sullivan, M.G., and Park, D.J. 2014. A generic rule set for applying the Alberta Fisheries Sustainability Index, second edition. Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource Development, Edmonton, AB. 51 p.
- McGrath, C.C., and Lewis, W.M., Jr. 2007. Competition and predation as mechanisms for displacement of greenback cutthroat trout by brook trout. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 136(5): 1381–1392.
- McMahon, T.E., Zale, A.V., Barrows, F. T., Selong, J.H., and Danehy, R.J. 2007. Temperature and competition between Bull Trout and Brook Trout: A test of the elevation refuge hypothesis. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 136(5): 1313–1326.
- Meijering, M.P.D. 1991. Lack of oxygen and low pH as limiting factors for *Gammarus* in Hessian brooks and rivers. Hydrobiologia 223: 159–169.
- Moberly, H.J. 1929. When fur was king. J.M. Dent and Sons, London and Toronto. 237 p.
- Moffa, A. 2017. Traditional ecological rulemaking. Stan. Envtl. L. J. 35: 101–155.
- Mogensen, S., Post, J., and Sullivan, M. 2014. Vulnerability to harvest by anglers differs across climate, productivity and diversity clines. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 71(3): 416–426.
- Mohseni, O., Stefan, H.G., and Erickson, T.R. 1998. A nonlinear regression model for weekly stream temperatures. Water Resour. Res. 34(10): 2685–2692.
- Mooers, A.O., Doak, D.F., Findlay, C.S., Green, D.M., Grouios, C., Manne, L.L., Rashvand, A., Rudd, M.A., and Whitton, J. 2010. Science, policy, and species at risk in Canada. Bioscience. 60(10): 843–849.

- Morgan, G.E. 2002. Manual of instructions Fall Walleye Index Netting (FWIN). Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, Percid Community Synthesis Diagnostics and Sampling Standards Working Group. 35 p.
- Morita, K., and Yamamoto, S. 2002. Effects of habitat fragmentation by damming on the persistence of stream-dwelling charr populations. Conserv. Biol. 16(5): 1318–1323.
- Mukherjee, N., Huge, J., Sutherland, W., McNeill, J., VanOpstal, M., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., and Koedam, N. 2015. The Delphi technique in ecology and biological conservation: applications and guidelines. Methods Ecol. Evol. 6: 1097–1109.
- Murray, A.M., Sullivan, M.G., and Acorn, J. 2012. A tribute to Joseph Schieser Nelson, 1937–2011. Can. Field-Nat. 125: 373–380.
- Norman, J.R., Hagler, M.M., Freeman, M.C., and Freeman, B.J. 2009. Application of a multistate model to estimate culvert effects on movement of small fishes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 138(4): 826–838.
- Norris, A.P. 2012. Cumulative effects thresholds for Arctic grayling in the Wapiti River watershed. Thesis (M.Sc.) Royal Roads University, Victoria, BC. 53 p.
- Ottaway, E.M., and Clarke, A. 1981. A preliminary investigation into the vulnerability of young trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*) to downstream displacement by high water velocities. J. Fish Biol. 19(2): 135–145.
- Park, D., Sullivan, M., Bayne, E., and Scrimgeour, G. 2008. Landscape-level stream fragmentation caused by hanging culverts along roads in Alberta's boreal forest. Can. J. Forest Res. 38(3): 566–575.
- Peterson, D.P., Fausch, K.D., and White, G.C. 2004. Population ecology of an invasion: Effects of brook trout on native cutthroat trout. Ecol. Appl. 14(3): 754–772.
- Peterson, D.P., Fausch, K.D., Watmough, J., and Cunjak, R.A. 2008. When eradication is not an option: Modeling strategies for electrofishing suppression of non-native Brook Trout to foster persistence of sympatric native Cutthroat Trout in small streams. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 28(6): 1847–1867.
- Post, J.R., Sullivan, M., Cox, S., Lester, N.P., Walters, C.J., Parkinson, E.A., Paul, A.J., and Shuter, B.J. 2002. Canada's recreational fisheries; the invisible collapse? Fisheries. 22: 6–17.
- Post, J., Mushens, C., Paul, A., and Sullivan, M. 2003. Assessment of alternative harvest regulations for sustaining recreational fisheries: model development and application to Bull Trout. N. Am. J.I Fish. Manag. 23: 22–34.
- Punt, A.E., Dorn, M.W., and Haltuch M.A. 2008. Evaluation of threshold management strategies for groundfish off the US west coast. Fish. Res. 94(3): 251–266.
- Punt, A.E., Butterwort, D.S., deMoor, C.L., De Oliveira, J.A.A., and Haddon, M. 2014. Management strategy evaluation: best practices. Fish Fish. 17(2): 303–334.
- Reilly, J.R., Paszkowski, C.A., and Coltman, D.W. 2014. Population genetics of Arctic Grayling distributed across large, unobstructed river systems. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 143(3): 802–816.
- Reilly, J., Konynenbelt, R., and Herman, S. 2016. Pinto Lake Bull Trout Recovery Action Plan 2015-2020. Alberta Environment and Parks, Fisheries Management, Rocky Mountain House, AB. 13 p. + app.

- Richmond, B. 2004. An Introduction to Systems Thinking, STELLA Software. High Performance Systems, Inc., Lebanon, NH. viii + 165 p.
- Ricker, W.E. 1975. Computation and interpretation of biological statistics of fish populations. Bull. Fish. Res. Board Can. 191. Ottawa, ON. xvii + 382 p.
- Rieman, B., Peterson, J., and Myers, D. 2006. Have Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) displaced Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) along longitudinal gradients in central Idaho streams? Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 63: 63–78.
- Ripley, T., Scrimgeour, G., and Boyce, M.S. 2005. Bull trout occurrence (*Salvelinus confluentus*) and abundance influenced by cumulative industrial developments in a Canadian boreal forest watershed. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 62(11): 2431–2442.
- Schindler, D.W. 2009. Lakes as sentinels and integrators for the effects of climate change on watersheds, airsheds, and landscapes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 54(6, part 2): 2349–2358.
- Schindler, D.E., and Hilborn, R. 2015. Prediction, precaution, and policy under global change. Science. 347(6225): 953–954.
- Schindler, D.W. Wolfe, A.P., Vinebrooke, R., Crowe, A., Blais, J.M., Miskimmin, B., Freed, R., and, Perren, B. 2008. The cultural eutrophication of Lac la Biche, Alberta, Canada: a paleoecological study. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65(10): 2211–2223.
- Schneider, R.R. 2002. Alternative futures: Alberta's boreal forest at the crossroads. The Federation of Alberta Naturalists. Edmonton, AB. 152 p.
- Schneider, R. 2019. Biodiversity Conservation in Canada: From Theory to Practice. The Canadian Centre for Translational Ecology, Edmonton, AB. 376 p.
- Scrimgeour, G., Hvenegaard, P., Tchir, J., Kendall, S., and Wildeman, A. 2003. Stream fish management: cumulative effects of watershed disturbances on stream fish communities in the Kakwa and Simonette River Basins, Alberta. Alberta Conservation Association, Peace River and the Alberta Research Council, Vegreville, AB. Northern Watershed Project Final Report No. 3. xvii + 126 p.
- Scutari, M., and Denis, J.B. 2015. Bayesian Networks: with examples in R. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, FL. 225 p.
- Seegrist, D.W., and Gard, R. 1972. Effects of floods on trout in Sagehen Creek, California. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 101(3): 478–482.
- Selong, J.H., McMahon, T.E., Zale, A.V., and Barrows, F.T. 2001. Effect of temperature on growth and survival of Bull Trout, with application of an improved method for determining thermal tolerance in fishes. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.130(6): 1026–1037.
- Smit, B., and Spaling, H. 1995. Methods for cumulative effects assessment. Environ. Impact Asses. Rev. 15: 81–106.
- Stednick, J.D. 1996. Monitoring the effects of timber harvest on annual water yield. J. Hydrol. 176(1–4): 79–95.
- Sullivan, M.G. 2003. Active management of Alberta's walleyes: dilemmas of managing recovering fisheries. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 23(4): 1343–358.
- Sullivan, M.G. 2014. The Bull Trout of Jacques Lake, Jasper National Park: a population in recovery. Alberta Cooperative Conservation Research Unit, Edmonton AB. 18 p.

- Sullivan, M.G. 2018. Can fishing mortality at catch-and-release Bull Trout fisheries be a potential impact to recovery? AEP memo; discussion paper to Senior Fisheries Biologist Team. 11 June 2018. Available upon request from: Fish and Wildlife Policy, 6909-116 Street, Edmonton, AB T6H 4P2.
- Sullivan, M.G., and Spencer, S. 2016. Cumulative effect of whirling disease and fishing mortality on Alberta trout populations. Technical report, Fisheries Management, Alberta Environment and Parks. Edmonton, AB. 10 p.
- Sutherland, W.J., Gardner, T.A, Haider, L.J., and Dicks, L. 2013. How can local and traditional knowledge be effectively incorporated into international assessments? Oryx. 48: 1–2.
- Tsuji, L. J. S., and Ho, E. 2002. Traditional environmental knowledge and western science: in search of common ground. Can. J. Native Stud. 22(2): 327–360.
- Tversky, A., and Kahneman, D. 1974. Judgement under uncertainty; heuristics and bias. Science. 185(4157): 1124–1131.
- Usher, P.J. 2000. Traditional ecological knowledge in environmental assessment and management. Arctic. 53(2): 183–193.
- Valastin, P., and Sullivan, M. 1997. A historical survey of the sport fisheries in northeastern Alberta. Fisheries Section, Northeast Boreal Region, Natural Resources Service, Alberta Environmental Protection. 52 p.
- Volpe, J.P., Anholt, B.R., and Glickman, B.W. 2001. Competition among juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): relevance to invasion potential in British Columbia. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 197–207.
- Walters, C. 1986. Adaptive Management of Renewable Resources. Macmillan Publishing Company, New York, NY. 374 p.
- Walters, C. 1997. Challenges in adaptive management of riparian and coastal ecosystems. Conserv. Ecol. 1(2):1–20.
- Wang, T., Hamann, A., Spittlehouse, D., and Carroll, C. 2016. Locally downscaled and spatially customizable climate data for historical and future periods for North America. PloS One 11(6): e0156720. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156720
- Warnock, W.G. 2008. Molecular tools reveal hierarchical structure and patterns of migration and gene flow in Bull Trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) populations of south western Alberta. Thesis (M.Sc.) University of Lethbridge, Lethbridge, AB. xi + 174 p.
- Warnock, W. 2012. Examining brook trout invasion into Bull Trout streams of the Canadian Rockies. Thesis (Ph.D.) University of Lethbridge, Lethbridge, AB. 184 p.
- Warren, M.L., Jr., and Pardew, M.G. 1998. Road crossings as barriers to small stream fish movement. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 127(4): 637–644.
- Wellman, J.C., Combs, D.L., and Cook, S.B. 2000. Long-term impacts of bridge and culvert construction or replacement on fish communities and sediment characteristics of streams. J. Freshw. Ecol. 15(3): 317–328.
- Wenger, S.J., Isaak, D.J., Dunham, J.B., Fausch, K.D., Luce, C.H., Neville, H.M., Rieman, B.E., Young, M.K., Nagel, D.E., Horan, D.L., and Chandler, G.L. 2011. Role of climate and invasive species in structuring trout distributions in the interior Columbia River Basin, USA. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68(6): 988–1008.

Williams, J.E., Haak, A.L., Gillespie, N.G., and Colyer, W.T. 2007. The Conservation Success Index: Synthesizing and communicating salmonid condition and management needs. Fisheries 32(10): 477–493.